BIOAVAILABILITY AND BIODEGRADABILITY OF DISSOLVED ORGANIC NITROGEN

ORIGINATED FROM MUNICIPAL AND ANIMAL WASTEWATER

A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the North Dakota State University of Agriculture and Applied Science

By

Jingyi Sun

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE

Major Department: Agricultural & Biosystems Engineering

June 2015

Fargo, North Dakota

North Dakota State University Graduate School

Title

BIOAVAILABILITY AND BIODEGRADABILITY OF DISSOLVED ORGANIC NITROGEN ORIGINATED FROM DOMESTIC AND ANIMAL WASTEWATER

By

Jingyi Sun

The Supervisory Committee certifies that this disquisition complies with North Dakota State

University's regulations and meets the accepted standards for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE:

Dr. Halis Simsek

Chair

Dr. Eakalak Khan

Dr. Ganesh Bora

Approved:

06/15/2015 Date Dr. Sreekala G. Bajwa

Department Chair

ABSTRACT

Due to the increased concern on dissolved organic nitrogen (DON) in surface waters, it is necessary to understand the biodegradability and bioavailability of DON in point and non-point sources. In this study, algae and bacteria were applied under lab condition to undestand the impact of DON to water environment. Biodegradable DON (BDON) was determined using bacteria while bioavailable DON (ABDON) was determined using green algae *Selenastrum capricornutum*, *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*, and *Chlorella vulgaris* and/or mixed culture bacteria in municipal and animal wastewaters. In both wastewater sources, ABDON efficiencies (%) for all three algae were not significantly different indicating that *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* and *Chlorella vulgaris* can be used as a test species for nitrogen determination similar to *Selenastrum capricornutum*. Results showed that, the ranges of BDON and ABDON in municipal wastewaters were 50-60% and 30-77%, respectively, while the ranges of BDON and ABDON in animal wastewaters were 48-54% and 40-81%, respectively.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would like to express my gratitude to my advisor Dr. Halis Simsek for his incessant support, advice, and guidance throughout the research and also in thesis writing. I would also like to thank my committee members: Dr. Eakalak Khan and Dr. Ganesh Bora for their encouragement, insightful comments, and suggestions throughout my study at NDSU.

I would like to thank the North Dakota Water Resource Research Institute for funding my research. I am also grateful to Mr. Mark Blonigen and Mr. Terry Skunberg for helping me with the sample collection from their wastewater treatment facilities.

Besides, I am thankful to my lab mates: Boonsiri, Swati, and Mitchell, and other ABEN graduate students for their help creating a workable and fun environment. Thanks also conveys to my roommates and dearest friends for their encouragement and support.

Lastly, I am most grateful to my parents, Bochen Sun and Chunpei Wang for their love, care, and support along the way.

ABSTRACT	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	viii
LIST OF FIGURES	ix
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	X
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. Background	1
1.2. Research Objectives	3
1.3. Hypotheses	4
1.4. Thesis Organization	4
CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW	5
2.1. Dissolved Organic Nitrogen	5
2.1.1. Definition, Determination, and Environmental Impact	5
2.2. Biodegradable Dissolved Organic Nitrogen (BDON) and Bioavailable Dissolved Organic Nitrogen (ABDON)	7
2.2.1. Definition, Determination, and Environmental Impact	7
2.3. DON, BDON, and ABDON in Natural Water Ecosystem	13
2.4. DON, BDON, and ABDON in Anthropogenic Sources	17
2.4.1. Municipal Wastewater Treatment Plants	17
2.4.2. Animal Wastewater	20
CHAPTER 3. BIOAVAILABILITY OF DISSOLVED ORGANIC NITROGEN TO GREEN MICROALGAE <i>SELENASTRUM CAPRICORNUTUM, CHLAMYDOMONAS</i> <i>REINHARDTII, CHLORELLA VULGARIS</i> AND BACTERIA IN MUNICIPAL WASTEWATER	21
3.1. Introduction	21
3.2. Material and Methods	23

TABLE OF CONTENTS

3.2.1. Samples Source, Collection, and Preparation	
3.2.2 Algal and Bacterial Bioassay Preparation	
3.2.3. Analytical Methods, ABDON and BDON Procedures	
3.2.4. Statistical Analyses	25
3.3. Results and Discussions	
3.3.1. After Primary Clarifier	
3.3.2. After BOD Trickling Filter	33
3.3.3. After Nitrification Trickling Filter	39
3.4. Summary	43
CHAPTER 4. DISSOLVED ORGANIC NITROGEN IN ANIMAL WASTEWATER: BIODEGRADABILITY AND BIOAVAILABILITY	45
4.1. Introduction	45
4.2. Material and Methods	48
4.2.1. Sample Preparation and Sampling Locations	48
4.2.2. Algal and Bacterial Inoculum Preparation	49
4.2.3. Experimental Design	49
4.2.4. Determination of DON, ABDON, and BDON	50
4.2.5. Statistical Analyses	51
4.3. Result and Discussion	51
4.3.1. Animal Feedlot Wastewaters	51
4.3.2. Lagoon Wastewater	57
4.3.3. Dry Cell Weight in ANPC and Lagoon Samples	62
4.4. Summary	63
CHAPTER 5. CONCLUSIONS	64
5.1. Conclusions	64
5.2. Recommendations	64

REFERENCES	5	66
------------	---	----

LIST OF TABLES

<u>Table</u>		Page
4.1.	Biomass density in animal feedlot and lagoon samples inoculated using different combination of algal and/or bacterial inoculum	63

LIST OF FIGURES

<u>Figur</u>	<u>e</u>	Page
3.1.	Algae [<i>S. capricornutum</i> (S), <i>C. reinhardtii</i> (R), and <i>C. vulgaris</i> (V)] and/or bacteria (B) inoculum for: (a) DNO ₂ -N, (b) DNO ₃ -N, (c) TDN, (d) DON in Fargo WWTP primary effluent after 14-day and 21-day incubation	28
3.2.	(a) DON, (b) ABDON and BDON, and (c) ABDON or BDON as a fraction of DON _i after 14 and 21 days of incubation using algae [<i>S. capricornutum</i> (S), <i>C. reinhardtii</i> (R), and <i>C. vulgaris</i> (V)] and/or bacteria (B) inoculum in Fargo WWTP primary effluent.	32
3.3.	(a) DNO ₂ -N, (b) DNO ₃ -N, and (c) TDN after 14 and 21 days of incubation using algae [<i>S. capricornutum</i> (S), <i>C. reinhardtii</i> (R), and <i>C. vulgaris</i> (V)] and/or bacteria (B) inoculum in Fargo WWTP BOD trickling filter effluent.	35
3.4.	(a) DON, (b) ABDON and BDON, and (c) ABDON or BDON as a fraction of DON _i after 14 and 21 days of incubation using algae [<i>S. capricornutum</i> (S), <i>C. reinhardtii</i> (R), and <i>C. vulgaris</i> (V)] and/or bacteria (B) inoculum in Fargo WWTP BOD trickling filter effluent.	37
3.5.	(a) DNO ₂ -N, (b) DNO ₃ -N, and (c) TDN after 14 and 21 days of incubation using algae [<i>S. capricornutum</i> (S), <i>C. reinhardtii</i> (R), and <i>C. vulgaris</i> (V)] and/or bacteria (B) inoculum in Fargo WWTP nitrification trickling filter effluent	40
3.6.	(a) DON, (b) ABDON and BDON, and (c) ABDON or BDON as a fraction of DON _i after 14 and 21 days of incubation using algae [<i>S. capricornutum</i> (S), <i>C. reinhardtii</i> (R), and <i>C. vulgaris</i> (V)] and/or bacteria (B) inoculum in Fargo WWTP nitrification trickling filter effluent.	42
4.1.	TDN, NH ₃ -N, NO ₂ -N, and NO ₃ -N in animal feedlot samples for different algae and/or bacteria inoculum: Algae [<i>S. capricornutum</i> (S), <i>C. reinhardtii</i> (R), and <i>C. vulgaris</i> (V)] and/or bacteria (B).	53
4.2.	(a) DON and DON/TDN, (b) BDON, ABDON, and their initial DON fraction in animal feedlot samples for different algae and/or bacteria inoculum: Algae [<i>S. capricornutum</i> (S), <i>C. reinhardtii</i> (R), and <i>C. vulgaris</i> (V)] and/or bacteria (B)	56
4.3.	TDN, NH ₃ -N, NO ₂ -N, and NO ₃ -N in storage lagoon samples for different algae and/or bacteria inoculum: Algae [<i>S. capricornutum</i> (S), <i>C. reinhardtii</i> (R), and <i>C. vulgaris</i> (V)] and/or bacteria (B).	59
4.4.	(a) DON and DON/TDN, (b) BDON, ABDON, and their initial DON fraction in storage lagoon samples for different algae and/or bacteria inoculum: Algae [<i>S. capricornutum</i> (S), <i>C. reinhardtii</i> (R), and <i>C. vulgaris</i> (V)] and/or bacteria (B)	61

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ABDON	Bioavailable dissolved organic nitrogen
ANPC	Animal nutrition physiology center
AS	Activated sludge
В	Bacteria
BDON	Biodegradable dissolved organic nitrogen
BNR	Biological nutrient removal
DDW	Distilled deionized water
DI	Deionized
DIN	Dissolved inorganic nitrogen
DNH3-N	Dissolved ammonia nitrogen
DNO ₂ -N	Dissolved nitrate nitrogen
DNO ₃ -N	Dissolved nitrite nitrogen
DON	Dissolved organic nitrogen
DON _f	Final dissolved organic nitrogen after incubation
DON _i	Initial dissolved organic nitrogen before incubation
MLSS	Mixed liquor suspended solids
MW	Molecular weight
NH ₃	Ammonia
NH4 ⁺	Ammonium
NO ₂ ⁻	Nitrite
NO3 ⁻	Nitrate
R	Microalgae Chlamydomonas reinhardtii

S	Microalgae Selenastrum capricornutum
SMPs	Soluble microbial products
TDN	Total dissolved nitrogen
TF	Trickling filter
TN	Total nitrogen
V	Microalgae Chlorella vulgaris
WWTP	Wastewater treatment plant

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Background

Excess nitrogen in water environment are mainly linked to human activities, including agricultural uses of fertilizer, application of manure, and discharge of municipal wastewater. Nutrient over-enrichment in receiving waters affects ecological systems by stimulating harmful algal blooms. The overabundance of algae in water ecosystems reduces water transparency, creates oxygen-deprived aquatic zones, and ultimately leads to death of dwelling plants and fishes. Dissolved organic nitrogen (DON) is one of the dominant nitrogen forms in surface waters and its natural and/or anthropogenic inputs increases deterioration of the water quality.

DON in aquatic systems originated from both non-point and point sources. Field research and modelling studies suggest that DON in groundwater is mainly released by sandy sediments through digenetic reactions (Gobler and Sanudo-Wilhelmy 2001). Atmospheric DON deposition is another great non-point contributor to watershed and the concentration is greatly affected by human activities and seasonal changes (Zhang et al., 2012). Wastewater effluent from point sources is another significant DON contribution to surface waters.

Current knowledge on the fate and characterization of wastewater derived DON are limited. Biologically enhanced nitrogen removal process largely reduces nitrogen load by transforming dissolved inorganic nitrogen (DIN) to free nitrogen via denitrification process. Thus, DON in advanced wastewater treatment plant (WWTP) effluents becomes the major component in effluent total dissolved nitrogen (TDN). In final effluent of tertiary (advanced) WWTPs, DON concentration ranges between 0.3 and 1.8 mg-N/L which could comprise between 25 and 70% of final effluent TDN (Pehlivanoglu Mantas and Sedlak, 2006; Sattayatewa et al., 2009; Simsek et al., 2012). However, the level of DON from other point and non-point sources such as wastewaters from animal feeding operations and agricultural runoff are still poorly investigated.

Several studies have been conducted to characterize the compositions and properties of DON in last decade (Pehlivanoglu Mantas and Sedlak. 2008). Nevertheless, identifying the composition of DON at any given time in a treatment plant remains as a great challenge. In primary effluent, proteins are considered as the major group of effluent organic nitrogen (Westgate and Park, 2010). In secondary biological treatment, researchers have confirmed that chelating agents and soluble microbial products (SMPs) can be produced by microorganisms within the process (Parkin et al., 1981; Westgate and Park et, 2010). In treated effluent prior to discharge, Pehlivanoglu Mantas and Sedlak (2008) reported that only about 30% of DON have been identified, which contained organic compounds such as amino acids, dimethylanine (DMA), and ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), while 70% of DON remained unknown. However, organic nitrogen forms in treatment plants effluent are mainly driven by different biological treatment methods. Biological nitrification process can reduce the concentration of hydrophobic portion of DON, while advanced treatment processes, such as powdered activated carbon and soil aquifer treatment, could substantially remove all kinds of organic matters which results in the change of DON composition fraction (Krasner et al., 2009; Chen et al., 2011).

Previous studies evaluated the impact of effluent DON to algal and bacterial species in receiving water environments. Wastewater-derived DON is both biodegradable and bioavailable to bacteria and/or algae in bioassays experiments. Biodegradable DON (BDON) and bioavailable DON (ABDON) have been determined in different stages of wastewater along the treatment train as well as in various biological nutrient removal (BNR) systems, such as activated sludge (AS), anaerobic-anoxic-oxic process (AAO), Bardenpho reactor, trickling filter (TF), and membrane

biological reactor (Urgun-Demirtas et al. 2008; Sattayatewa et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2012; Huo et al., 2013; Simsek et al., 2013; Qin et al., 2015). These studies showed that the BDON and ABDON ranged widely between 28 and 86% of influent DON. Meanwhile, DON became more bioavailable to algae in the presence of bacteria.

Green alga *Selenastrum capricornutum* (*S. capricornutum*) is considered as a test species by the U. S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) to examine wastewater nutrients and toxicity. Adopted from EPA Printz Algal Assay Bottle Test, *S. capricornutum* has been commonly applied in bioassay studies to determine the bioavailability of wastewater (Urgun-Demirtas et al. 2008; Sattayatewa et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2012. Simsek et al., 2013). The lack of information on the bioavailability of DON to other algae species limits the complete understanding of ABDON. Therefore, the overall goal of this study was to investigate the bioavailability of DON to three different algal species, which were *S. capricornutum, Chlamydomonas reinhardtii (C. reinhartii)* and *Chlorella vulgaris (C. vulgaris)* with/without bacteria addition in municipal wastewaters and two different algal species, which were *C. reinhartii* and *C. vulgaris* with/without bacteria addition in animal wastewaters.

1.2. Research Objectives

The main scope of this research was to investigate bioavailability of DON to different algal species with/without presence of bacteria. The specific objectives were as follows:

1. To examine DON, ABDON, and BDON in wastewaters collected from a two-stage trickling filter WWTP using three different algal species: *S. capricornutum*, *C.reinhardtii*, and *C. vulgaris* with/without the presence of mixed culture bacteria.

2. To investigate DON, ABDON, and BDON in wastewaters collected from an animal feeding operation center storage tank and from a sheep wastewater storage lagoon system using

two different algal species, which were *C.reinhardtii* and *C. vulgaris* with/without the presence of mixed culture bacteria.

1.3. Hypotheses

The corresponding hypotheses based on the study objectives, are:

1. Bioavailability and biodegradability of DON to three different algal species are different. DON is more bioavailable to algae + bacteria compare to algae only inoculum.

2. DON in agricultural wastewater has similar characterization as domestic wastewater which is bioavailable to algae and/or bacteria.

1.4. Thesis Organization

This thesis contains 5 chapters. Chapter 1 describes the general introduction and overall objectives of the study. Chapter 2 provides an overview of related background and previous literature on DON, ABDON, and BDON. Chapter 3 and 4 describe the ABDON and BDON study in municipal and animal agricultural wastewaters, respectively. Lastly, Chapter 5 provides an overall conclusions and further recommendations.

CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1. Dissolved Organic Nitrogen

2.1.1. Definition, Determination, and Environmental Impact

Nitrogen is an essential nutrient source for plant and animal nutrition and it controls the productivity of aquatic ecosystem. Optimal amount of nitrogen is important to natural surface waters, such as lakes, streams, rivers, estuaries, and oceans; however, in high concentrations it can be a contaminant in the water environment. DON pool in aquatic ecosystem consists of various N-containing functional organic compounds, such as nucleic acids, amino sugars, proteins, and humic substance (Berman and Bronk, 2003). Molecular weight fractionation of DON is an approach to understand the bioavailability of DON. In oceans, about 30% of marine DON is comprised as high molecular weight (HMW) DON which consists of great fraction of amide-N compounds and small portion of humic substances (Repeta et al., 2002; Aluwihare et al., 2005). In municipal wastewater effluent, low molecular weight (LMW) nitrogen compounds that have a molecular size less than 1000 Dalton cutoff, such as free and combined amino acids play a dominant role (50-78%) of the secondary effluent DON (Parkin and McCarty, 1981; Pehlivanoglu-Mantas and Sedlak, 2008).

DON behaves as a dynamic participant in N cycle which is biochemically transformable through ammonification, nitrification, and denitrification by bacteria first to ammonia N (NH₃-N) and nitrate N (NO₃-N), and then back to atmospheric N. In surface waters, the chemical compositions and properties of DON largely depend on its origination from numerous natural and anthropogenic sources, atmospheric deposition, and autochthonous production. Therefore, different DON issues that include DON determination methods, structural composition, sources, sinks, and environmental impact of DON are main challenges remained, which requires significant consideration.

Since there is not a direct method available to measure DON, one major challenge on DON characterization is the lack of reliable measurement methods to quantify it. Generally, DON is determined indirectly from the mass-balance equation of nitrogen (Equation 2.1.). To increase the accuracy of DON determination, the measurement variance of dissolved ammonia N (DNH₃-N), dissolved nitrite N (DNO₂-N), dissolved nitrate N (DNO₃-N), and TDN must be reduced. TDN is commonly determined using persulfate digestion method that was firstly developed by Delia et al. (1977). In this method, nitrogenous compounds are converted into DNO₃⁻ with oxidizing reagent under alkaline conditions. In 1992, Crumpton et al. determined DNO₃⁻ using second derivative UV spectrophotometric methods (SDUS) at the peak of 224 nm. Eckford and Fedorak (2002) further suggested that the SDUS method was reliable to determine DNO₃⁻ when wastewater contained organic compounds. Sattayatewa et al. (2011) modified and described a simple protocol to measure TDN combining persulfate oxidation and the second-derivative UV spectrometry method. This protocol proved high accuracy on DNO₃⁻ measurement at very low DON concentration (0.05-3 mg-N/L, Sattayatewa et al., 2011).

$$DON (mg-N/L) = TDN - DNH_3 - N - DNO_2 - N - DON_3 - N$$
(Eq. 2.1.)

The accuracy of measuring DON can be further improved by using pretreatment methods that consequently minimize DIN and maximize DON level in wastewater sample. Dialysis pretreatment by membrane (nanofiltration and reverse osmosis) and adsorption process (ionexchange resin) are considered as the most promising methods for low level DON (in μ g-N/L) such as marine water. However, between 4 and 21% of organic matters including DON compounds can be lost during the pretreatment process. In addition, the interference of DOC and DIN forms becomes another remaining challenge (Crumpton et al., 1992; Vandenbruwane et al., 2007; Xu et al., 2010; Sattayatewa et al., 2011).

2.2. Biodegradable Dissolved Organic Nitrogen (BDON) and Bioavailable Dissolved Organic Nitrogen (ABDON)

2.2.1. Definition, Determination, and Environmental Impact

BDON reveals the portion of DON that can be taken up by bacteria, while ABDON expresses the portion of DON that can be minimized by algae-only or algae + bacteria inocula. The level of wastewater BDON and ABDON rely on different influential factors that include bioassay incubation time, inoculum types, dissolved oxygen level, and the origin of wastewater. Excess amount of BDON and ABDON in surface waters can potentially cause algal growth and dissolved oxygen depletion and ultimately cause eutrophication. These two variables (BDON and ABDON) evaluate the potential environmental effect of wastewater-derived DON to river and estuaries. Therefore, characterizing BDON and ABDON can provide a better understanding for the impact of DON to aquatic environment.

In general, DON from autochthonous sources, such as urban runoff, animal feedlot runoff, and wastewater associated with human activities, are more bioavailable to bacteria and algae, while DON from forest, wetlands, and soil leaching are less bioavailable (Seitzinger and Sanders, 1997 and 1999; Bronk et al., 2010). Certain organic compounds such as urea can be readily converted to ammonium carbonate and it can be found as ammonium instead of urea in aquatic system. Some portions of DON are readily biodegradable and/or bioavailable to bacterial communities in biological treatment systems, while some portions of it remain recalcitrant (Seitzinger and Sanders, 1997; Bushaw-Newton and Moran, 1999; Koopmans and Bronk, 2002; Vahatalo and Zepp, 2005; Pehlivanoglu-Mantas and Sedlak, 2006). In addition, previous

investigations have proved that a great portion (between 50 and 85%) of the refractory DON becomes biodegradable and/or bioavailable to living organisms when the optimum environmental conditions, such as the concentration of initial DON, residence time, type and amount of bacterial and algal communities, DO level, and temperature, are met (Koopmans and Bronk, 2002; Pehlivanoglu and Sedlak, 2004; Vahatalo and Zepp, 2005; Urgun-Demirtras et al., 2008; Sattayatewa et al., 2009; Simsek et al., 2013).

BDON and ABDON determination methods have been developed to evaluate the bioavailability and biodegradability of DON under different experimental conditions (Pehlivanoglu and Sedlak, 2004; Urgun-Demirtas et al. 2008; Khan et al., 2009; Simsek at al., 2012). BDON and ABDON are calculated as the differences of DON values before and after incubation. BDON relies on the changes of initial DON (DON_i) and final DON (DON_f) in bacteria-only (B-only) seeded samples (Equation 2.3.) (Simsek et al., 2012). The ABDON calculation relies on the changes between DON_i and DON_f in algae with/without bacteria inoculated samples before and after the incubation period (Equation 2.2.) (Simsek et al., 2013). Blank corrections (inoculum controls) for either bacteria or algae bioassays and the blank samples are carried throughout the experiments. Final calculations are included blank for DON_i (DON_{bi}) and blank for DON_f (DON_{bf}) (Equations 2.2. and 2.3.).

BDON (mg-N/L) =
$$[(DON_i - DON_f) - (DON_{bi} - DON_{bf})]$$
 (Eq. 2.2.)

$$ABDON (mg-N/L) = [(DON_i - DON_f) - (DON_{bi} - DON_{bf})]$$
(Eq. 2.3.)

Studies have emphasized on wastewater BDON and ABDON from different aspects of initial wastewater treatment methods, various length of incubation period, and different types of bioassay inoculum (Pehlivanoglu and Sedlak, 2004; Khan et al., 2009; Sattayatewa et al., 2009; Simsek et al., 2013). Prior to determining DON, BDON, and ABDON, the initial samples are filtered using different pore size of membrane filters including 0.2, 0.45, and 1.2 μ m filter sizes depended on the experimental design (Pehlivanoglu and Sedlak, 2004; Urgun-Demirtas et al. 2008; Simsek et al., 2013). Particulate fraction of organic matters that greater than 0.45 μ m usually contains various suspended solids, such as algae, protozoa, and bacterial cells, while the portion of DON passed through 0.45 μ m is mainly cell fragment and macromolecules including proteins and lipids (Shon et al., 2006). Smaller pore-size filter (such as 0.2 μ m) can further eliminate the bacteria, while retaining more organic nitrogen constituents from wastewater samples (Khan et al., 2009).

Different lengths of incubation periods from 14 to 180 days have been applied in bioassay tests (Pehlivanoglu and Sedlak, 2004; Khan et al., 2008). Short incubation periods (5 days), which have been applied in BOD and DOC determination, did not achieve sufficient biodegradation of DON. Then, 14 days (2-week) of incubation period were used to determine BDON and ABDON in the study of Pehlivanoglu and Sedlak (2004) and Urgun-Demirtas et al. (2008). Khan et al. (2008) described a protocol to determine BDON choosing a 20-day incubation period for tertiary treated effluent. They suggested that there was limited BDON exertion after 20 days. Simsek et al. (2012 and 2013) selected 28 days of incubation period to determine wastewater derived DON in primary effluent. Long term incubation such as 60 or 180 days could not contribute to additional biodegradability in bioassay experiment. Nevertheless, long term incubation in the environment may cause the release of DON from phytoplankton and the increase of DON in wastewater (Khan et al., 2009; Sattayatewa et al., 2009).

Both natural inoculum and highly selected bacteria from WWTPs have been applied in BDON and ABDON assay experiments. To represent the real environmental conditions, Sattayatewa et al. (2009) filtered the local river water and used the retentate on the 0.2 µm filter as natural bacteria. Liu et al. (2012) further selected the bacteria that passed through 1.0 µm pore-size filter and retained on 0.2 µm membrane filter. Moreover, Khan et al. (2009) used mixed liquor suspended solids (MLSS), which contained raw wastewater and activated sludge in their experiments. They investigated different concentrations (30, 60, 120, 240 mg/L) of MLSS in the BDON assay suggesting that MLSS at 240 mg/L was most appropriate for BDON assay. Later, Sattayatewa et al. (2009) and Simsek et al. (2012) further adopted this approach using diluted MLSS and primary wastewater as bacterial inoculum for bioassay.

DON pretreatment of wastewater did not greatly affect the BDON and ABDON assay results. Sattayatewa et al. (2011) prepared both ion-exchange rinsed and untreated wastewater. For pretreated effluent, during BDON and ABDON assay, additional mineral nutrients were added to wastewater to support essential algal growth since nitrate and phosphorus were removed in the ion-exchange resin. BDON and ABDON results were recorded slightly higher in pretreatment of wastewater than they were in untreated wastewater. In terms of degradation, BDON and ABDON showed similar first order degradation rate in both treated and untreated wastewater.

Bioassay is an important approach to study DON and it has been conducted to analyze different nitrogen species in laboratory condition. In the tests, nitrogen uptake by algae largely depended on the bioavailability and energetically expense of different nitrogen forms. In general, ammonium is the most favorable form for algal utilization since it requires less energy and enzyme (He et al., 2013). Lower ammonia concentration (<50 mg/L) is generally preferred by microalgae since high ammonia concentration can inhibit photosynthesis (Abeliovich and Azov, 1976). Moreover, nutrient utilization efficiencies by algae in bioassay experiments are mostly affected by initial nutrient concentration, cell inoculate density, pH, light exposure time and

intensity, and temperature (Cai et al., 2013). The pH value around 7 to 7.5 were most optimal for *C. vulgaris* and *C. reinhardtii* growth, however, *C. reinhardtii* still achieved sufficient growth under pH condition from 6.5 to 9.5 (Kong et al., 2010).

Pehlivanoglu and Sedlak (2004) applied S. capricornutum in wastewater effluent prior to discharge to determine the bioavailability of DON. The bacterial inoculum in the bioassay was isolated from effluent receiving surface waters (Truckee River). Their results showed that DON was not readily available to algae S. capricornutum, while around 56% of DON was available to algae and bacteria. Later, Sattayatewa et al. (2009) conducted similar experiments with wastewaters consisting low nitrogen level. About 28 to 57% of DON was biodegradable for bacteria in 40 days of incubation period, while DON in large molecules was likely to be converted to ammonia before final use. The results concluded that 28 to 48% of DON was bioavailable to algae, which utilized the big portion of DON in 3 to 8 days. Similarly, ABDON assay has been performed to examine the bioavailability of specific portion of DON (Liu et al., 2012; Qin et al., 2015). Hydrophilic substances can contribute to 64 to 80% of DON. Liu et al. (2012) evaluated the bioavailability of hydrophilic and hydrophobic DON. They extracted the wastewater effluent to separate hydrophilic and hydrophobic DON. Their results showed that 40 to 85% of hydrophilic DON was bioavailable to algae + bacteria in the bioassay study, while the hydrophobic portion of DON was not readily available for algae in 14 days.

In ABDON assay tests, algae *S. capricornutum* have been mostly applied to determine wastewater ABDON in previous studies (Pehlivanoglu and Sedlak, 2004; Urgun-Demirtas et al., 2008; Sattayatewa et al., 2009; Simsek et al., 2012). *S. capricornutum* (also called as *Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata; Monraphidium capricornutum; Raphidocelis subcapitata;* and *Ankistrodesmus bibraianus*) is considered as a standard species in the laboratory bioassay.

Culturing *S. capricornutum* is relatively easy under lab condition. In Printz Algal Assay Bottle Test protocol developed by EPA, the recommended *S. capricornutum* culture conditions suggested to control temperature at $25 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C, light intensity about 4306 lux, and continuous agitation rate at 100 rpm (Miller et al., 1978). However, single test species (*S. capricornutum*) inhibits the comprehensive understanding of the fate and characterization of DON and ABDON.

Other microalgae species such as *C. reinhardtii*, *Scenedesmus obliquus*, and *C. vulgaris* have proved high nutrient removal efficiency and great environmental adaptability in varies wastewaters (An et al., 2003; Kong et al., 2010; Ruiz-Marin et al., 2010). These algae have been used in the studies to remove nitrogen in wastewaters with a wide range of initial concentrations. Both *C. vulgaris* and *C. reinhardtii* showed high TDN removal and were tolerant to high ammonia. *C. vulgaris* removed 23 to 100 % of TDN in wastewater with initial TDN of 13 to 410 mg/L, while *C. reinhardtii* showed 42 to 83% of TDN removal in animal wastewater with an initial TDN of 130 mg/L (Aslan and Kapdan, 2006; Kong et al., 2010). Besides *S. capricornutum*, *C. reinhardtii* have also been used as a test species by EPA in the method, which was a short-term method to estimate the chronic toxicity of effluents and receiving waters to freshwater organisms (Lewis et al., 1994). Those microalgae species can further applied in ABDON assay test.

Bioavailability of DON to *C. vulgaris* and *C. reinhardtii* have not been fully understood; however, studies have demonstrated that when inorganic N (ammonia and nitrate) is limited in the sample, algae species can utilize certain organic nitrogen compounds such as urea and amino acid (Hodson et al., 1969; Happe and Naber, 1993). Hodson et al. (1969) applied 15N labeled tracer experiments and found that *C. vulgaris* metabolized urea and sequentially formed ammonia under dark aerobic condition. Under certain conditions, uptake of compounds, which occurred via active transport, was caused by the concentration gradient when the organic nitrogen level was high. For large MW compounds, enzyme activates which mainly include amino acid oxidation and peptide hydrolysis, are necessary to breakdown proteins and produce small compounds. Munoz - Blanco et al. (1990) observed that *C. reinhardtii* utilized the L-amino acid directly and further oxidized it into ammonia to support algal growth. In addition, leucine amino peptidase, which is capable of hydrolyzing proteins, have been found on cell wall of *C. reinhardtii* indicating the existence of external proteolytic enzyme activities to hydrolyze peptides (Langheinrich, 1995).

2.3. DON, BDON, and ABDON in Natural Water Ecosystem

DON consists of a great proportion of TDN in natural streams, lakes, and marine ecosystem. The fraction of DON in surface waters is higher than other constituents in the N pools, such as particulate organic nitrogen (PON), ammonium, nitrate, and nitrite (Berman and Bronk, 2003). In general, DON concentrations in rivers and lakes are below 100 μ M-N, while the DON to TDN ratio could show a wide range (8 to 83%) (Hopkinson et al., 1998; Seitzinger and Sanders, 1997). Even though DON concentrations in some selected rivers (Parker River, Childs River, Susquehanna River, and Satilla River) in Georgia and Maryland were low that varied between 23 and 56 μ M-N, the fraction of DON to TDN was relatively high that varied between 19 and 94% of TDN (Hopkinson et al., 1998).

DON in surface waters can be released from natural inputs, such as forest floor, sediments, and atmospheric deposition. DON can also be naturally released via biological processes of cell lysis and bacterial transformation from soil and sediments (Berman and Bronk, 2003). In some studies, DON is the dominant nitrogen form in leaching of forest floor and soil (Michel and Matzner, 1999; Lapworth et al., 2008). Additionally, human intervention has great

impact on the fraction of DON. Significant amount of DON in rivers and lakes originated from anthropogenic sources which were associated with human activities, such as municipal and industrial discharges, agriculture wastewaters from livestock operations, and irrigation runoff with nitrogen fertilizer application, which may further affect the water quality in estuaries and coastal areas.

Perakis and Hedin (2002) observed that DON contributed about 80% of TDN in the rivers of an unpolluted forest in South America, while DON:TDN ratio was greatly reduced to 20% in polluted forest of North America. Boyer et al. (2006) has observed that riverine DON contributed 33 to 37% of TDN to coastal area, while significant amount of it originated from municipal and agricultural sources. In summer, the increase of surface flow input from municipal and agricultural sources resulted in the change of water salinity and the seasonal variation of DON:TDN ratio in the river of Southeast England as higher DON fraction was observed in summer than in winter (Badr et al., 2008). In addition, studies on fog and rainfall have suggested that DON contributed 20 to 65% of atmospheric TDN, while the majority of DON was produced during fossil fuel combustion processes (Cornell et al., 2003; Boyer et al., 2006).

Transportation and accumulation of DON in downstream surface waters can greatly affect the living organisms in a water body since DON is a primary constituent in aquatic systems. The fate and amount of DON transportation and transformation in surface waters relied on different factors that include the spatial and temporal variations of surface water, residence time of the nutrient and living organisms in the water, light intensity and exposure time, initial DON loading rate, temperature, dissolved oxygen level, and the type of bacterial and algal communities. DON in marine ecosystems was firstly believed to be largely refectory and unavailable for algae and microorganism uptake. Earlier studies reported that DON had relatively fast turnover cycle and very slow degradation rate (< $0.005 \text{ day}^{-1}\mu\text{M}$, Jackson and Williams, 1985). The traditional belief was that if DON was an available N source to phytoplankton or bacteria, the concentration of DON wouldn't have been depleted. Later, with isotopic techniques, which were developed in 1970s, studies showed that DON was regenerated by phytoplankton due to the uptake of inorganic nitrogen (NH₄⁺, NO₃⁻). Similar DON release rate and uptake rate results in the stable concentration of DON in marine environment over the time and spaces scales (Bronk and Glibert, 1993; Bronk et al., 1994; Berman and Bronk, 2003; Bronk et al., 2010).

In fact, blooms of phytoplankton were observed in the waters that contained high DON and low DIN levels (Keller and Rice 1989; Gobler and Sanudo-Wilhelmy 2001). In long term analyses, researchers noticed that enrichment of DON concentration resulted in the enhanced growth of alga *A. anophagefferens* and caused the destructive brown tides in northeast U.S. embayment (LaRoche et al., 1997; Golber et al, 2002; Gilbert et al., 2007). Studies have found that some phytoplankton can hydrolyze DON substrates directly, while others can utilize DON indirectly by deriving N source from DON pool with extracellular enzyme (Berg et al., 2002; Mulholand et al., 2004).

The bioavailability and biodegradability of DON from different sources of rivers, atmosphere, and estuaries have been investigated (Wiegner and Seitzinger, 2001; Badr et al., 2008). LaRoche et al. (1997) found that relatively high DON level (35 μ M) in the Long Island bay stimulated the brown tide blooms (*A. anophagefferens*) in 1980s. By observing decrease of DON and an increase of algal cells, authors suggested that brown tide were more likely to occur in drought year when DON was more readily available than surface water DIN sources.

Furthermore, DON associated with anthropogenic sources tends to be more bioavailable than DON in natural sources. Seitzinger et al. (2002) examined that the bioavailability of DON was observed in sources of urban rainfall runoff, agricultural runoff, and forest, referring that DON in urban runoff was the most bioavailable to phytoplankton.

Some phytoplankton species were found to be able to hydrolyze organic compounds, such as amino acid, urea, peptides, and proteins in natural environment (Berg et al., 2002; Gobler et al., 2002; Glibert et al., 2007). Wiegner et al. (2006) determined bioavailability of DON to phytoplankton in nine rivers of eastern U.S. They applied natural bacteria in river water samples under dark condition for 6 days of incubation. The results showed that 37 to 49% of initial DON was available to bacteria even though DIN existed in the samples. However, it was more common that riverine DON becomes a primary nitrogen sources for algae and microorganisms when inorganic nitrogen was limited. Another in-situ study conducted by McCarthy et al. (1997) investigated the nitrogen preference of phytoplankton in the Chesapeake Bay over a 13 months period. Their result indicated that N uptake sequence of phytoplankton was ammonium > urea > nitrate.

Photochemical decomposition of DON is another pathway to provide N source to algae and bacteria. Under sunlight exposure, low MW compounds (ammonia, nitrate, and dissolved primary amines) were released from effluent organic nitrogen and substantially uptake by algae in a photochemical release assays (Bronk et al., 2010). Labile bioavailable N were produced from biologically recalcitrant DON via photochemical reactions to support N-limited plankton growth (V äh ätalo and J ärvinen, 2007).

Overall, monitoring the entire large DON pool via the bioassay approach has issues remained. The main difficulty is that bioassay studies can measure only a small portion of DON uptake while it was difficult to represent the large DON uptake rates and the DON regeneration rate (Bronk et al., 2007). Current available data on BDON and ABDON is not enough to understand the behavior and characterization of BDON and ABDON from point and non-point sources. Further characterization of organic nitrogen should be performed.

2.4. DON, BDON, and ABDON in Anthropogenic Sources

2.4.1. Municipal Wastewater Treatment Plants

Municipal wastewater effluent DON is one of the most important autochthonous nitrogen sources to receiving waters and its reduction is crucial for especially nutrient sensitive surface waters. Wastewater effluent DON may consist of urea, amino acids, amino sugars, proteins, nucleic acids, fulvic acids, humic acids, and a variety of uncharacterized components. Due to the complex properties of DON, the identifiable effluent DON usually accounts for less than 10% of DON, while major portion (70%) of DON that may consists of mainly polymerized biological compounds, cannot be identified directly with current technologies (Pehlivanoglu-Mantas and Sedlak, 2006).

The concentration of DON and BDON decreases along the treatment trains. In WWTP influent, DON level ranged between 5.1 and 9.0 mg-N/L, which consisted of 2.3 to 4.4% of dissolved combined amino acids (DCAA), 0.6 to 1.0% of dissolved free amino acids (DFAA), and other organic compounds. Huo et al. (2013) have observed limited DON removal (0 to 10%) in primary clarifiers, while most DON was removed within biological treatment process.

Certain portion of organic matters can be removed during the biological treatment. Studies have investigated the fate of DON and BDON in different operational systems to understand removal and biodegradability of wastewater-derived DON (Sattayatewa et al., 2009; Simsek et al., 2012; Huo et al., 2013). Simsek et al. (2012) determined the fate of DON and BDON removal in a trickling filter plant. During the treatment process in the plant, about 62% of influent DON and 72% of influent BDON were removed mainly in the BOD and nitrification treatment units. BDON in treatment train found between 51 and 69% of DON, which were high enough to be consider as critical for the stringent TDN discharge limits. Moreover, Huo et al. (2013) examined DON and BDON level in an anaerobic, anoxic, and oxic treatment plant. About 78% of influent DON was removed in the study, while the major DON reduction (70%) was achieved in anaerobic process. They also observed 84% of DFAA and 48% of DCAA removal referring that low molecular weight (MW) DON, such as urea and amino acid, were effectively removed during the biological process (Huo et al., 2013).

Based on previous studies, DON removal efficiency ranging from 60 to 80% indicates that a portion of DON is refractory and remains resistant to degrade during the biological wastewater treatment process (Simsek et al., 2012; Huo et al., 2013). A portion of refractory DON (0.1 to 0.2 mg-N/L) in wastewater treatment plants originated from drinking water sources (Lee et al., 2006). As treated drinking water was used during human activities, DON remained and further sent to WWTPs. Pehlivanoglu-Mantas and Sedlak (2006) reported that around 10% effluent was originated disinfection by-product Nof DON in wastewater as nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA), which was produced from water treatment plants. Results showed that more than 50% of NDMA was biodegraded after 30 days of incubation in the bioassay study. They further suggested that during the BDON assay a portion of refractory DON in effluent can be minimized by microbial activity. In addition, Westgate and Park (2010) confirmed the existence of refractory DON by measuring protein concentration and protein profiles in effluent along the treatment trains. They found that some high MW proteins (50 to

150 kDa) remained in both primary and secondary effluents that were considered as recalcitrant DON.

Moreover, some researchers observed that some portion of DON can be newly generated in different treatment units of the BNR process. In secondary biological treatment, with the appearance of low protein bands (25 to 50 kDa), Westgate and Park (2010) indicated that soluble microbial products (SMPs), which consisted of mainly amino acids and proteins, were produced via microbial activities. In the aerobic process of an activated sludge reactor, Czerwionka et al. (2012) found that $DON_{0.1\,\mu M}$ was released by anoxic microorganisms during the nitrification process. However, Sattayatewa et al. (2010) observed an increase of DON in primary anoxic zone which may resulted from anoxic microbial metabolism. In the BNR effluent, around 90% of DON was produced in biological treatment process (Pehlivanoglu-Mantas and Sedlak, 2006). To control effluent DON concentration, it is necessary to investigate the optimal operating conditions for microbial processes to reduce SMPs concentration and minimize the release of DON.

Chen et al. (2011) evaluated the transformation of effluent DON in a river water that receives wastewater effluent from a WWTP, and found that DON concentration decreased along the length of the river. They determined 17 and 35% of DON removal in summer and winter, respectively, within the 14.3 miles length of the river. Finding higher biodegradability of DON in winter was unexpected by the authors, since bacterial activity must be reduced during the winter compare to summer. However, it was discovered that 3.9 mg/L free chlorine was applied to the wastewater effluent in summer but not in winter. They speculated that formation of chloramines during the chlorination altered the biodegradation of DON. Overall, they concluded that water

quality changes in an effluent dominated river Chen et al. (2011). The fate and behavior of effluent DON and its impact to the natural ecosystems requires further studies on DON.

2.4.2. Animal Wastewater

Livestock wastewaters generated from concentrated animal feeding operations, such as dairy, poultry, swine, and beef feedlots, are crucial agricultural point sources. TDN level in animal wastewater can reach to thousands in mg-N/L, while N mainly existed in the form of ammonia and organic nitrogen. The organic load from animal wastewater is much higher than domestic sewage wastewater.

Anaerobic digestion process is commonly considered as an effective way to treat animal wastewater organic matters which can stabilize organics and produce methane gas. Hydrolysis is the first step in anaerobic digestion. During hydrolysis, organic polymers (proteins and lipids) are breakdown to mono and oligomers (sugars, amino acids, peptides) which become available to other bacteria. Enzymatic and chemical pre-treatment during digestion can help improve the biodegradation degree and rate of bacteria. For example, in swine wastewater, the level of dissolved organics was increased by 26.6 and 2.5% by adding cellulose (*Trichoderma reesie*) and protease enzymes (*Bacillus licheniforms*, Lee et al., 2008). Acidic (HCl) and alkaline (NaOH) treatment of swine wastewater can also promotes the breakdown of soluble organic matters. However, most studies focus on reduction of organics and production of methane gas. Further studies are necessary to investigate the effects of animal wastewater DON to aquatic and soil environment.

CHAPTER 3. BIOAVAILABILITY OF DISSOLVED ORGANIC NITROGEN TO GREEN MICROALGAE SELENASTRUM CAPRICORNUTUM, CHLAMYDOMONAS REINHARDTII, CHLORELLA VULGARIS AND BACTERIA IN MUNICIPAL WASTEWATER

......

3.1. Introduction

Biological availability of DON to bacterial and/or algal species in aquatic ecosystems accelerates DON transformation into highly soluble inorganic nitrogen forms include ammonia (NH₃), nitrite (NO₂⁻), and nitrate (NO₃⁻). Some algal species preferred to utilize organic nitrogen species over nitrate (Berman and Chava, 1999; Mulholland et al., 2004). Hence, excessive concentrations of DON accumulation increase the readily bioavailable and biodegradable primary limiting nutrients in aquatic systems (Paeral et al., 1997; Seizinger and Sanders, 1997; Gobler et al., 2002, 2005). Lack of removing organic nitrogen remains potential for eutrophication that can result in algal blooms in receiving water. From mid-2000, brown tides in northeast U.S. estuaries were found correlated to DON level in receiving waters from modeling and long-term observations (MacIntyre et al., 2004; Trice et al., 2004; Glibert et al., 2007). The algal blooms had great impact to local marine ecosystems, fisheries, and public health (Cape et al., 2011). Therefore, removing waters.

Due to the complex structure of DON, reducing DON (either from influent wastewater or generated during the biological process) has not been successful. Around 20% of DON consists of compounds such as DCAA, DFAA, protein, urea, and ethylenediaminetetraacetic acids (EDTA), while the major portion of DON structure remains unknown (Berman and Bronk et al., 2003; Pehlivanoglu-Mantas and Sedlak, 2008; Huo et al., 2013). Researchers have confirmed

that some other compounds including chelating agents and soluble microbial products were produced by organisms during biological treatment process (Parkin et al., 1981; Westgate and Park, 2010). Therefore, understanding the composition and characterization of DON at any given time in treatment plant is still a great challenge.

ABDON examines the portion of DON which can be minimized by algae-only or algae + bacteria inocula. Although many studies exist on the ABDON from natural and anthropogenic sources (Bushaw et al., 1996; Seitzinger and Sanders, 1997; V äh ätalo, et al., 2005; Bronk et al., 2007) limited studies are available on the ABDON in domestic wastewater (Pehlivanoglu and Sedlak, 2004, 2006; Urgun-Demirtas et al., 2008; Xu et al. 2010; Simsek et al., 2013). Most of the previous studies used a unicellular green microalgae Selenastrum capricornutum to investigate bioavailability of nitrogen since S. capricornutum has some advantages including easy to grow in the laboratory conditions and has high efficiency to utilize the primary nutrients. S. capricornutum has been used and suggested by United States Environmental Protection Agency as a test species of water quality and fresh water algae toxicity studies (van der Heever and Grobbelaar, 1998). It has been widely applied in toxicity studies of ionic liquids (Pham et al., 2010), metal oxide nanoparticles (Kahru et al., 2008), and of hazard organics (Staples et al., 2002) to quantify pollutants bioavailability. In this study, three different algal species, S. capricornutum, Chlamydomonas reinhardtii and Chlorella vulgaris and their combination with bacteria were used to obtain DON, ABDON, and BDON data in the samples collected from three different locations along the two-stage TF WWTP. The results were analyzed and compared to investigate if C. reinhardtii and C. vulgaris were also suitable to use as control species in aquatic environment.

3.2. Material and Methods

3.2.1. Samples Source, Collection, and Preparation

Wastewater samples were collected from the City of Fargo WWTP. The plant has a twostage tricking filter process, which are biochemical oxygen demand (BOD) TFs and nitrification TFs, with a peak pumping capacity of 29 MGD and an average flow of 11-15 MGD. The facility consists of an influent pumping station, screening, grit removal, two pre-aeration channels, seven primary clarifiers, three BOD TFs, two intermediate clarifiers, two nitrification TFs, one final clarifier, chlorination, and de-chlorination units. The treated wastewater from the plant is discharged continuously to the Red River. The samples were collected from three different locations, which were after primary clarifier, after BOD TF, and after nitrification TF along the WWTP. Total six sets of samples were collected from May 2013 to December 2014 and average values were presented in this study. Before performing any analysis, all the samples were filtered twice through 0.2 µm fiber filter (Pull Scientific, USA) in about one hour after collection.

3.2.2 Algal and Bacterial Bioassay Preparation

Algal and/or bacterial inoculum were used to inoculate the wastewater samples. Three different algal species, which were *S. capricornutum, C. reinhardtii,* and *C. vulgaris* were used. The algae strains were obtained from UTEX (University of Texas Culture Collection of Algae, Austin, TX) and cultured in the laboratory as needed. The strains were grown in Bristol Medium containing: 2.94 mM NaNO₃, 0.17 mM CaCl₂ 2H₂O, 0.3 mM MgSO₄ 7H₂O, 0.43mM K₂HPO₄, 1.29 mM KH₂PO₄, and 0.43 mM NaCl. Stock *S. capricornutum, C. reinhardtii*, and *C. vulgaris* strains were cultivated in 500 ml clear bottles at 25°C under aerobic conditions. Algae were illuminated under fluorescent lamp (5400 Lm) for 12 hours light / dark cycle. All the glassware, media, and double de-ionized water (DDI) were autoclaved at 121°C for 30 min before used in

each experiment. Stock *S. capricornutum, C. reinhardtii*, and *C. vulgaris* strains were cultivated in 500 ml clear bottles at 25 °C under aerobic conditions. Algae were illuminated under fluorescent lamp (around 5400 lm) for a 12 hrs. light/dark cycle. Cultured algal bioassay were harvested by centrifuging at 3000 rpm for 5 min and washed with DDI water twice before inoculation. Initial cell density in each sample was controlled around 1×10^5 cells/mL to achieve supplemental growth. Bacterial bioassay was prepared from influent (raw wastewater) of the city of Fargo WWTP, which contained returned bacteria from intermediate clarifier. Bacterial bioassay was also centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 5 min and rinsed with DDI water before using. *S. capricornutum, C. reinhardtii*, and *C. vulgaris*, bacteria were abbreviated as S, R, V, and B, respectively, in entire study.

3.2.3. Analytical Methods, ABDON and BDON Procedures

About 50 ml filtered samples were used to analyze the initial parameters, which were DNH₃-N, DNO₂-N, DNO₃-N, and TDN. DON was calculated from the mass balance equation (Simsek et al., 2013). All the measurements were carried out in duplication or triplication for each sample. The diazotization, second derivative ultraviolet spectrophotometric (SDUS) method, and salicylate method were used to test nitrite, nitrate, and ammonia, respectively. TDN was converted to nitrate after digestion and measured with SDUS method using UV-Visible spectrophotometer (APHA et al., 2005).

After determining initial parameters, all the samples were placed in 250 ml bottles for 14 and 21 days of consecutive incubation using algae-only, algae + algae, algae + bacteria, and bacteria-only seeds. Amber bottles were used to incubate the samples using bacterial-only inoculum, while clear bottles were used to inoculate the samples using algae-only, algae + algae, or algae + bacteria inoculum. The same parameters as in initial samples were measured and finally ABDON and BDON were determined for both 14 and 21 days of incubation periods, respectively. The ABDON and BDON calculations relied on the change between initial DON (DON_i, DON before incubation) and final DON (DON_f, DON after incubation) values. The details of the ABDON and BDON methods were explained elsewhere (Simsek et al., 2012, 2013).

ABDON experiments in this study were divided into 8 portions based on the type of inoculum as; pure cultured algae (S, R, or V), algae + algae (R + V), and algae + bacteria (S + B, R + B, V + B, or R + V + B) inoculum. BDON experiment was presented in only one portion, which was bacteria-only seeded sample. For the inoculation, 1.5 ml of algae and/or 1.5 ml of bacteria were used and all the bottles were agitated on an orbital shaker at 100 rpm (VWR standard orbital shaker) with caps were tightly closed. However, all the bottles were aerated daily by opening the caps one or twice a day for 3-4 minutes during the incubations to maintain the oxygen in the samples. After the incubation, wastewater samples were centrifuged with 3000 rpm for 5 min to separate either algae or bacteria from the samples before measurements. Control samples were also carried out throughout the experiments for each bioassay (S, R, V, and bacteria) by adding the inoculum to DDW. All the necessary corrections were made using the results obtained from control samples.

Cell density was measured during by using algae counting method during the incubation to evaluate algal growth. Samples were observed by ZEISS LSM microscope using 1ml haemacytometer chamber.

3.2.4. Statistical Analyses

Minitab 17 was used in this study for all statistical analyses. Sample means and standard derivations were calculated from the duplication for each treatment. One way analysis of
variance (ANOVA) table was conducted at $p \le 0.05$ to evaluate the effects caused by three algal species with the presence and absence of bacteria.

3.3. Results and Discussions

Initial dissolved inorganic nitrogen, initial TDN, and initial DON were determined in the samples collected from all three locations in Fargo WWTP. Afterward, all the samples were seeded and incubated to determine final DON, ABDON, and BDON and all the results were presented in the Figures 4.1 to 4.4.

3.3.1. After Primary Clarifier

3.3.1.1. Dissolved Inorganic Nitrogen and TDN

The samples collected from after primary clarifier contained 33.74 mg-N/L of DNH₃-N (77% of TDN) and less than 0.5 mg-N/L of DNO₂-N + DNO₃-N (<3% of TDN). Average initial TDN measured as 42.53 mg-N/L. After 14 days of incubation, about 4.23 mg-N/L ammonia remained in the samples seeded with algae S while about 14.10 and 9.22 mg-N/L ammonia remained in the samples seeded with R and V, respectively. After 21 days of incubation, more than 99% of ammonia in all the samples were nitrified. In addition to ammonia already exist in the primary effluent samples, some portion of ammonia released through ammonification of DON and this portion of ammonia was also consequently nitrified. Figure 1a and b expressed that the big portion of ammonia was converted to nitrite and a certain portion of it was converted to following nitrate in algae and/or bacteria seeded samples.

Dissolved nitrite after 14 and 21 days of incubation was high in all algae and/or bacteria seeded samples (Figure 3.1a). Nitrite in all the samples after 14-day of incubation was varied between 21.55 and 35.00 mg-N/L, while it reduced to between 15.40 and 26.00 mg-N/L after 21-day of incubation. High nitrite accumulation in the samples possible occurred due to lack of air

during the incubation. Gonz dez et al. (2008) conducted a study in wastewater using algalbacterial enclosed system, and found that 65-72% of inorganic N existed as NO₂-N form after the incubation. However, NO₂-N accumulation phenomenon was hardly reported under other field studies and in lagoon or pond systems.



Figure 3.1. Algae [*S. capricornutum* (S), *C. reinhardtii* (R), and *C. vulgaris* (V)] and/or bacteria (B) inoculum for: (a) DNO₂-N, (b) DNO₃-N, (c) TDN, (d) DON in Fargo WWTP primary effluent after 14-day and 21-day incubation.

Additional experiments were conducted to monitor air influence on the partial nitrification by diluting the influent samples about 50% to reduce nitrogen loading and remained same volume/air ratio in the incubation bottle. The ammonia and TDN concentrations in these diluted samples were measured as average 15.6 and 23.41 mg-N/L, respectively. Diluted samples were incubated for 21 days and the results showed that between 72 and 91% of ammonia was nitrified into nitrate, while the nitrite level is extremely low (NO₂-N < 0.50 mg-N/L). This outcome proved that lower ammonia concentration required less air and mitigated the effect of partial nitrification. Furthermore, results showed that high nitrite concentration in the samples did not affect either algal growth or ABDON and BDON levels (Simsek et al., 2013).

Dissolved nitrate was low in all the samples seeded with algae and/or bacteria for both 14 and 21 days of incubation because of high nitrite level in the samples (Figure 3.1b). The highest nitrate value was recorded on the sample seeded with R+V+B, which was less than 3.0 mg-N/L. TDN levels were reduced in all the samples compare to the initial TDN value indicating that that algae and/or bacteria utilized nitrogen for their growth. (Figure 3.1c). However, this reduction was minimal for bacteria-only seeded samples (about 2 mg-N/L reduction). Previous studies also proved that algal-bloom intensity were declined in watershed ecosystem by reducing nitrogen load (Nuzzi and Waters, 2004; Gobler et al., 2005). After incubation, magnitude of TDN reduction) > V (%43.14 reduction) > S (%32.74 reduction). The highest TDN reduction was observed in the sample seeded with algae R (TDN reduced to 20.67 mg-N/L). These results showed that algae *C. reinhardtii* and *C. vulgaris* could be used as a test species similar to algae *S. capricornutum*.

3.3.1.2. DON, ABDON, and BDON

Initial DON after primary clarifier sample was 8.96 mg-N/L, which comprised of 20% of initial TDN. After incubation, DON concentration was reduced in all the samples (Figure 3.2a). DON reductions in algae-only (S, R, and V) and algae + algae (R + V) seeded samples were not significant and the reduction was varied between 20.5 and 35.3% of initial DON. However, DON was reduced more in algae + bacteria (A+B, R+B, V+B, and S+R+V+B) seeded samples, which varied between 56.6 and 72.3% of initial DON after 21-day of incubation. These results proved that symbiotic relationship between algae and bacteria enhanced DON biodegradability and following bioavailability. The magnitude of DON reduction in the samples after 14 and 21 days of incubation was similar in algae + bacteria seeded samples indicating that algae and bacteria interactions were essentially shorten the incubation period (Sattayatewa, et al., 2009; Simsek et al, 2013). DON reduction in bacteria-only seeded sample was recorded as 50.9%, which was higher compare to the same reduction in algae-only seed did.

Bioavailable and biodegradable DON for 14 and 21 days of incubations were presented in Figure 3.2b. Bioavailability of DON was low in pure cultured algae *S. capricornutum, C. reinhardtii,* and *C. vulgaris,* varied between 3.5 and 5.9 mg-N/L. However, when those algae mixed with bacteria (S + B, R + B, and V + B), ABDON was increased significantly (P \leq 0.05) because of symbiotic relationship between algae and bacteria. In those algae + bacteria data, *S. capricornutum* + bacteria had the lowest ABDON value (6.5 mg-N/L) compare to other two types of algae, even though statistically was not different. The maximum attainable ABDON value could be the value of influent DON (average 8.96 mg-N/L). However, none of the results in Figure 2b achieved this ABDON value explained that a certain portion of DON remained as recalcitrant DON in the sample. The highest ABDON value in Figure 3.2b observed in R + V +B inoculated sample as 8.27 mg-N/L, which was very close to the maximum average initial DON values of 8.96 mg-N/L. These results showed that about 92% of DON was possible to be bioavailable to algae + bacteria in primary effluent samples when the optimum conditions were met. Previous studies also explained that maximum (100%) ABDON production through algae + bacteria was not attainable during the 14, 21, or 28 days of incubation period by using algae S. capricornutum as a test species. Other studies were also explained that wastewater derived DON comprised various forms of DON that cannot be bioavailable to algae and/or bacteria because of the complex structure of DON (Pehlivanoglu and Sedlak, 2004; Pehlivanoglu-Mantas and Sedlak, 2006; Sattayatewa et al., 2009; Simsek et al., 2013). Furthermore, Figure 2b proved that the ABDON results for bacteria involved samples (algae + bacteria and algae + algae + bacteria) were not very different from 14 to 21 days of incubation results even though 21 days of incubation results were always slightly higher (<2%) than 14 days of incubation results in all the location. BDON result (biodegradability to bacteria-only) after 14 and 21 days of incubation showed that about 66.3 and 77.3% of initial DON was biodegradable to bacteria, which was significantly higher than algae-only inoculated sample. On the contrary, BDON was lower than ABDON seeded algae + bacteria explained that certain portion of DON was degraded by bacteria and subsequently used by algae.



Figure 3.2. (a) DON, (b) ABDON and BDON, and (c) ABDON or BDON as a fraction of DON_i after 14 and 21 days of incubation using algae [*S. capricornutum* (S), *C. reinhardtii* (R), and *C. vulgaris* (V)] and/or bacteria (B) inoculum in Fargo WWTP primary effluent.

Initial DON fraction of ABDON and BDON were presented in the Figure 3.2c. For the algae-only seeded samples, the minimum ABDON fraction of DON in 14 and 21 days of incubations were 28.23% (S. capricornutum) and 36.80% (C. vulgaris), respectively. In general, the bioavailability of DON to pure culture algae (S, R, or V) increased from 12.0% in 14-day of incubation to 16.9% in 21-day of incubation. However, algae + bacteria seeded samples showed very minimal increment (1-2%) of ABDON to DON ratio between 14 and 21 days incubation for this location. These results expressed that 14 days of incubation for algae + bacteria is appropriate to attain the maximum ABDON level (Urgun-Demirtas et al, 2008; Pehlivanoglu, E. and Sedlak, D.L., 2004), while 21 days of incubation is more appropriate for algae-only seeded samples. Algae + bacteria results showed that 20 to 31% more ABDON were achieved comparing to ABDON in algae-only seeded samples because of symbiotic relationship between algae and bacteria (Simsek et al. 2013; Huo et al.; 2013). For bacteria-only seeded sample, around 52 and 58% of DON were biodegradable to bacteria in 14 and 21 days of incubation, respectively. These results showed that, even though 14-day of incubation for algae + bacteria seeded sample was sufficient to utilize the certain amount of DON, this incubation time was not sufficient for bacteria-only seeded samples.

3.3.2. After BOD Trickling Filter

3.3.2.1. Inorganic Nitrogen and TDN

Wastewater samples collected after BOD TF location consisted of average: 20.5 mg-N/L of initial DNH₃-N, 0.16 mg-N/L of initial DNO₂-N, and 8.65 mg-N/L of initial DNO₃-N. In this location, about 40% of ammonia from primary effluent (average 33.74 mg-N/L) was nitrified into nitrite and subsequently to nitrate in the WWTP. Results from after 21-day incubation showed that, more than 97% of ammonia was either nitrified or used by algae and bacteria to

support algal and bacterial growth. Nitrite concentrations after 14-day of incubation varied regardless of the type of inoculum between 10.08 and 21.58 mg-N/L in all the samples. For 21-day of incubation, all the nitrite values reduced and varied between 9.48 and 16.08 mg-N/L except nitrite value in bacteria-only seeded sample, which was recorded as 0.25 mg-L/N. On the contrary to high nitrite value in after primary clarifier location, the bacteria-only seeded samples in after BOD TF location had sufficient dissolved oxygen to complete nitrification in the samples (Figure 3.3a).

Nitrate values varied between 5.01 and 27.88 mg-N/L after 14 and 21 days of incubation and the values were more or less similar for 14 and 21 days of incubations (Figure 3.3b). Nitrate in the sample might be originated from nitrification of nitrite and ammonium or ammonification of DON. Nitrate in algae-only inoculated samples were lower (<9.45 mg-N/L), compare to bacteria-only inoculated samples (27.88 mg-N/L) explained that algae utilized dissolved nitrate to support their growth, while bacteria was mostly responsible to convert ammonia and nitrite to nitrate (Figure 3.3b). Previous studies showed that more nitrates were utilized by algae compare to nitrate utilized by bacteria (Sattayatewa et al., 2009; Simsek et al., 2013). Overall results showed that when ammonia, nitrite, and nitrate were all existed in the water ecosystem, ammonia was utilized first. Cai et al. (2013) concluded that ammonia was more favorable to algae during algal assimilation process since utilization of ammonia requires less enzyme and energy. Bacteria-only inoculated samples showed that all ammonia was nitrified into nitrate after 21 days of incubation.



Figure 3.3. (a) DNO₂-N, (b) DNO₃-N, and (c) TDN after 14 and 21 days of incubation using algae [*S. capricornutum* (S), *C. reinhardtii* (R), and *C. vulgaris* (V)] and/or bacteria (B) inoculum in Fargo WWTP BOD trickling filter effluent.

Average initial TDN (before incubation) was recorded as 36.27 mg-N/L, which was lower than initial TDN after primary clarifier samples expressed that WWTP itself removed about 14.7% of TDN in the BOD TF process. After 14 and 21 days of incubation, the trend for TDN after BOD TF samples (Figure 3.3c) were similar to the TDNs after primary clarifier samples. TDN reduction in algae inoculated samples increased with the presence of bacteria. The lowest TDN was recorded as 22.4 mg-N/L in *C. Vulgaris* + bacteria inoculated sample. In bacteria-only inoculated sample, TDN before and after incubation was quite similar since only about 6.5% reduction in TDN was observed.

3.3.2.2 DON, ABDON, and BDON

Average initial DON after BOD TF samples was recorded as 6.59 mg-N/L (Figure 3.4a) which was lower than DON after primary effluent (36.5% reduction in the treatment plant). However, DON/TDN ratio in BOD TF samples (18.23%) was comparable to DON/TDN ratio in primary effluent location (20.24%). Westgate and Park (2010) determined DON/TDN ratio after secondary treatment locations in five different WWTPs, which employed either activated sludge with diffused or mechanical aeration process or the Ludzack-Ettinger process and found the ratio between 7 and 29%. These results indicated that the organic fraction of the TDN in the effluent were quite high and in some critical areas regulatory agencies may require WWTPs to remove DON in order to reduce TDN discharge concentration. Therefore, knowledge on the structural characterization of DON becoming increasingly important.

After 14 and 21 days of incubation, DON reduction in all the samples showed that some portion of DON was bioavailable to algae-only and bacteria-only seeds while some portion of DON was bioavailable to both algae + bacteria seeds (Figure 3.4a). Furthermore, some portion



Figure 3.4. (a) DON, (b) ABDON and BDON, and (c) ABDON or BDON as a fraction of DON_i after 14 and 21 days of incubation using algae [*S. capricornutum* (S), *C. reinhardtii* (R), and *C. vulgaris* (V)] and/or bacteria (B) inoculum in Fargo WWTP BOD trickling filter effluent.

of DON neither bioavailable to algae nor bacteria seeds, which was considered as nonbioavailable or recalcitrant DON. After 21 days of incubation, the lowest DON was determined in R + V + B seeded sample as average 1.33 mg-N/L, which was about 20% of initial DON.

ABDON and BDON data were presented in Figure 3.4b. For pure algae samples, ABDON for S, R, and V after 21 days incubation were ranged from 2.97 to 3.37 mg-N/L, which were lower than ABDON level in primary effluent. ABDON and BDON in BOD TF effluent showed similar trends with previous location (after primary clarifier) that bacteria addition was always increased DON degradability and availability. To have more insight on ABDON, initial DON fraction of ABDON and BDON were calculated and presented in Figure 3.4c DON_i fraction of ABDON for algae-only inoculated samples ranged from 46 - 53% for all three types of algae, while the same fraction in algae + bacteria samples ranged from 72 to 76%. These results showed that bioavailability of DON after BOD TF location in both algae-only and algae + bacteria inoculated samples was high compare to bioavailability of DON after primary location indicating that DON became more bioavailable to algae and bacteria in this (after BOD TF) location. This phenomenon could be explained that both bioavailable and refractory of DON were reduced during the BOD TF treatment process. Studies also suggested that most refractory forms of DON were mainly hydrophobic and easy to remove by adsorption process (Sattayatewa et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2012). Soluble microbial products (SMPs) is a portion of refractory DON which generally is considered resist to degrade (non-bioavailable/non-biodegradable) during bioassay. The decreased level of refractory DON indicated that SMPs was not produced during the BOD TF treatment. Released from the dead cells, SMPs is more likely to produce under anoxic and anaerobic conditions (Sattayatewa et al., 2009).

3.3.3. After Nitrification Trickling Filter

3.3.3.1. Inorganic Nitrogen and TDN

Initial DNH₃-N, DNO₂-N, and DNO₃-N after nitrification trickling filter were 1.19, 0.21, and 31.90 mg-N/L, respectively. About 95% of ammonia was transformed into nitrite and following to nitrate in the treatment train of the plant itself. Therefore, ammonia values after incubation in all the samples were under detection limit. Similarly, nitrite values after 14 and 21 days of incubation were under 0.96 mg-N/L in all the samples (Figure 3.5a). Nitrite was increasing in the samples from 14 to 21 days of incubation and the highest nitrite increment was observed in bacteria-only seeded sample with 89% of increment. This outcomes indicated that 14 days of incubation was not adequate for bacteria to complete biological degradation of nitrogen (Khan et al., 2009, Sattayatewa et al., 2009; Simsek et al., 2012).

Initial nitrate after 14 and 21 days of incubation was reduced in algae and algae + bacteria seeded samples while it was more or less the same in bacteria-only seeded samples (only slight reduction, 6.20%, was observed) (Figure 3.5b). The lowest nitrate in after nitrification TF location was measured in *C. reinhardtii* + *C. vulgaris* + bacteria seeded samples as 19.43 mg/L, which expressed 39.9% reduction on nitrate compared to the initial nitrate. This means algae + bacteria can be able to remove 39.9% of nitrate from treated wastewater without advanced treatment (denitrification) application. Initial TDN was measured as 36.35 mg-N/L, which was reduced in all the inoculum conditions except TDN in bacteria-only seeded sample (33.87 mg-N/L). TDN in bacteria-only seeded samples was almost in balance with TDN before incubation (Figure 3.5c). The lowest TDN was determined in *C. reinhardtii* + *C. vulgaris* + bacteria seeded sample.



Figure 3.5. (a) DNO₂-N, (b) DNO₃-N, and (c) TDN after 14 and 21 days of incubation using algae [*S. capricornutum* (S), *C. reinhardtii* (R), and *C. vulgaris* (V)] and/or bacteria (B) inoculum in Fargo WWTP nitrification trickling filter effluent.

3.3.3.2. DON, ABDON, and BDON

Average initial DON (before incubation) in after nitrification was recorded as 3.76 mg- N/L, which comprised of 8.7% of initial TDN in after nitrification location. In fact, this DON value was more or less the same as the effluent DON value that was discharged to the river. In some environmentally critical areas, 3.76 mg-N/L of DON is quite high because of stringent TDN effluent discharge limits, which is typically under 5 mg-N/L. Therefore, finding a method to reduce DON in treated effluent is crucial. In this study, DON was reduced significantly in all the samples seeded with algae and/or bacteria (Figure 3.6a). Algae + bacteria seeded samples for all three types of algae in this location reduced DON under 1.12 mg-N/L. R + V + B seeded samples showed the highest DON reduction, which comprised of 78.7% of initial DON. Algae-only and bacteria-only seeded samples achieved only between 44.7 and 58.8% of DON reduction, which were higher compare to the case in algae + bacteria seeded samples.

ABDON and BDON data was presented in Figure 3.6b. ABDON or BDON to DON_i ratio were presented in Figure 3.6c. ABDON was low in algae-only seeded samples compare to ABDON in algae + bacteria seeded samples, which was the similar trends were observed in other two locations (after primary clarifier and after BOD TF locations). DIN, DON and TDN levels were different in all three locations, however ABDON and BDON trends were similar. All these results indicated that the differences in DIN levels in three locations did not significantly affect the bioavailability and biodegradability of DON. The average ABDON level for *C. reinhartti* was slightly higher (statistically not significant) than other two algal species in all three locations (after primary, after BOD and nitrification TFs). Previous studies explained that on the cell wall of *C. reinhartti*, aminopeptidase (apase) enzyme was found to work functionally to hydrolyze proteins and peptides which can best explain the phenomenon of higher ABDON in the bioassay



Figure 3.6. (a) DON, (b) ABDON and BDON, and (c) ABDON or BDON as a fraction of DON_i after 14 and 21 days of incubation using algae [*S. capricornutum* (S), *C. reinhardtii* (R), and *C. vulgaris* (V)] and/or bacteria (B) inoculum in Fargo WWTP nitrification trickling filter effluent.

experiment. Additionally, a strong correlation between organic N and protein molecules such as peptides were investigated (Langheinrich, 1995; Westgate and Park. 2010).

Similar ABDON/DON_i and BDON/DON_i trends were observed in after nitrification TF location compare to two previous locations (after primary and BOD TFs). The highest ABDON after 21 days of incubation was observed in R + V + B seeded samples as 73.1% of initial DON in this location. This results explained that 26.9% of initial DON in after nitrification location was recalcitrant DON, which was not removed in this study using algae *C. reinhardtii, C. Vulgaris* and mixed culture bacteria. Overall, R + V + B inoculated samples demonstrated the maximum bioavailability of DON in all three locations. The magnitude of BDON was less than ABDON in this location and about 50.9% of initial DON was recorder as BDON. This result confirmed that algae addition in the sample increased DON utilization.

3.4. Summary

This study provides important insight on bioavailability of DON using three different algal species (*S. capricornutum*, *C. reinhartti* and *C. vulgaris*) with/without bacteria addition in wastewater samples collected from three different locations in a two-stage TF WWTP.

For the overall treatment train, the initial ABDON was around 6.48 mg-N/L and the final ABDON was reduced to 2.84 mg-N/L indicating that 64% of ABDON was reduced in the biological treatment. Similarly, around 66% of bioavailable BDON was removed in TF.

In all the locations, about 70 to 80% of DON was bioavailable to mix-cultured algae + bacteria system. ABDON in algae-only seeded samples were quite low compare to algae + bacteria seeded samples proved the symbiotic relationship between algae and bacteria. Among all species, *C. reinhartti* + bacteria achieved the highest ABDON value even though statistically it was not significant compare to *S. capricornutum* + bacteria and *C. vulgaris* + bacteria

inoculum. Similarly, there was no significant difference on ABDON between 14 and 21 days of incubation for all three algae + bacteria seeded samples. However, ABDON values in all three single culture algae seeded samples for 14 days of incubation were significantly lower than in the case of 21 days of incubation.

CHAPTER 4. DISSOLVED ORGANIC NITROGEN IN ANIMAL WASTEWATER: BIODEGRADABILITY AND BIOAVAILABILITY

4.1. Introduction

Nutrient enrichment originated from livestock operations in aquatic ecosystems stimulates overabundance of algal growth and causes a wide range of problems including oxygen depletion (hypoxia and anoxia), fish kills, harm or death to other aquatic organisms, and subsequent habitat loss (Knight et al., 2000; Kadlec and Knight, 1996; Hunt and Poach, 2001; Gilley et al., 2010). Nitrogen is usually the primary growth-limiting nutrient in a water environment where it presents in water as organic and inorganic nitrogen (NO₃⁻, NO₂⁻, NH₄⁺, and NH₃). The most dominant N forms in surface waters are nitrate and DON (Bushaw-Newton and Moran, 1999; Vahatalo and Zepp, 2005; Wiegner et al., 2006).

Livestock wastewaters generated from concentrated animal feeding operations are a crucial agricultural point source containing suspended solids, nutrients, organic matter, pathogen, steroidal hormones, ectoparasiticides, mycotoxins, heavy metals, dioxins and antibiotics (Purdom et al., 1994; Khan et al., 2008; Chadwick et al., 2008; Wei et al., 2011). Some of the chemicals mentioned here are used to improve the reproductive performance of the dairy cattle. Transportation of these chemicals to surface waters cause contamination and may responsible abnormalities (alteration of endocrine function) in aquatic organisms. Proper wastewater management should be implemented to protect human and environmental health from exposure of these chemicals originated from natural and synthetic steroidal hormones (Purdom et al., 1994; Khan et al., 2008).

Livestock wastewaters have high nutrient (particularly nitrogen and phosphorous) values compare to domestic wastewaters because of high concentrations of animals in a very limited area. Some parameters in livestock wastewaters are several times higher than in domestic wastewater. For instance, some parameters in the piggery wastewaters can be ranged of: biochemical oxygen demand (BOD) 500-8000, volatile solids (VS) 5000-8000, total nitrogen (TN) is 900-2000, and total phosphorous (TP) is 80-400 as mg/L. (Cronk et al., 1996; Gonzalez et al., 2008; Prajapati et al., 2014). Ammonia-N values can be reached up to 8000 mg/L in piggery wastewaters depending on the size and operational characteristics of the feedlots (Bernet et al., 1996).

Animal wastewater has been considerable used as a growth medium of algal biomass for biogas production (Budiyono et al., 2010; Abou-Shanab et al., 2013). Wastewater treatment systems that integrated with algal biomass production are a cost effective way to produce algal biofuel. Abou-Shanab et al., (2013) examined six different microalgal species to treat piggery wastewaters and to determine their biodiesel production capacity. They expressed that microalgal-based treatment systems can significantly reduce nutrient concentrations in piggery wastewater at a minimal cost when the optimum conditions are met. *C. Vulgaris* was one of the species they used as a potential microalgal species to remove nutrients from piggery wastewater and quantify biomass production in their study. After 20 days of *C. Vulgaris* cultivation, TN was reduced from 53 to 27 mg/L. They concluded that TN can be utilized as NO₃⁻, NO₂⁻, NH₄, and N₂, however they overlooked organic nitrogen in their study (Abou-Shanab et al., 2013).

Prajapati et al., (2014) used four different algal strains to determine biomass production potential of dairy cattle wastewaters. Along with the other physiochemical parameters, they measured nitrate-nitrogen and total ammonia nitrogen before and after algal treatment. DON has not been evaluated in their study. Initial value of total ammonia and nitrate nitrogen were recorded as about 160 and 75 mg/L, respectively. After algal treatment using four different algae, nitrate-N removal efficiency varied between 78 and 83% while ammonia-N removal efficiency varied between 74 and 98%. These high removal efficiencies showed that animal dairy cattle wastewater is an important nutrient sources for algal species.

Even though total nitrogen (TN) and inorganic nitrogen determination are well documented in livestock wastewaters, data for DON is limited. Obaja et al., (2003) determined TN (1700 mg/L) and inorganic species (NH_4^+ -N = 1650 mg/L, NO_3^- -N and NO_2^- -N were not detected) in piggery wastewater, however they did not mention about organic nitrogen (ON) in their study though from the mass balance equation, ON can be calculated as 50 mg/L, which is quite high.

Previous studies indicate that some portions of DON in aquatic system is biodegradable and bioavailable to bacteria and algae over the time scale and it is an important nutrient source in nitrogen limited surface waters (Liu et al., 2011, Wiegnet et al., 2006). Biodegradable DON (BDON) is a portion of DON that is mineralized by bacteria. Bioavailable DON (ABDON) is a portion of DON that is utilized by bacteria and/or algae. There is no method to measure BDON and ABDON directly; however, they can be calculated from the difference between initial and final DON values using bioassay procedures (Khan et al., 2009, Simsek et al., 2012, 2013). Removing BDON and ABDON in livestock wastewaters before final discharging could reduce eutrophication potential.

In this study, DON, BDON, and ABDON were evaluated in livestock wastewaters that collected from an animal feedlot and a sheep wastewater storage lagoon. For BDON and ABDON bioassays, two different pure culture algal species, *C. reinhardtii* and *C. vulgaris*, mixed culture bacteria, and their combinations were tested. Previous studies showed that green microalgae *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* (*C. reinhardtii*) and *Chlorella vulgaris* (C. vulgaris)

have demonstrated their ability to remove nitrogen species in domestic wastewater, however these two species have not been used to test DON bioavailability in livestock wastewaters (Kim et al., 2007; Kong et al., 2010; Lee et al., 2006).

4.2. Material and Methods

4.2.1. Sample Preparation and Sampling Locations

Grab animal wastewater samples were collected from two different sources: Animal Nutrition and Physiology Center (ANPC) and ii) a sheep wastewater storage lagoon. Wastewater samples were filtered first through 1.2 µm pore-size glass fiber filters and subsequently filtered through 0.45 µm pore-size glass fiber filters (Whatman Inc. Kent, UK) within one hour after the collection. Six sets of samples were collected from April 2014 to October, 2014.

4.2.1.1. Wastewater Samples Collected from Animal Feedlot

In the first part of the study, the animal wastewater samples were collected from animal feedlot, which is an animal research facility belongs to North Dakota State University (NDSU) in Fargo, North Dakota. Varies types of animals have been raised in this facility and the number and types of animals at a certain time varies depends on the research need. During the sample collection time, there were sheep, pig, and mostly cattle (about 100-head cattle) in the feedlot. About 60,000 gal/day wastewater was generated in the facility. The wastewater flows through a solid separator unit for hay separation and then the liquid portion (wastewater) flows to a liquid storage tank for about three days of storage prior to final discharging into the City of Fargo sewage system. The samples were collected from the storage tank.

4.2.1.2. Wastewater Samples from Sheep Wastewater Storage Lagoon

In the second part of the study, the animal wastewater samples were collected from a storage lagoon that receives animal wastewater and runoff from a sheep research feedlots, which

is also belongs to NDSU. There were about 200 head of sheep available during the sample collection period. The lagoon received rain water as well in some of the sampling time frame. When it was needed, the lagoon wastewater was pumped out to nearby crop field. The wastewater samples were collected at 0.4 m depth from the lagoon surface.

4.2.2. Algal and Bacterial Inoculum Preparation

Two algal species, C. reinhardtii and C. vulgaris, were used in this study to inoculate the wastewater samples. Both algae were obtained from University of Texas Culture Collection of Algae, Austin, TX. The algal strains were grown in Bristol Medium containing: 2.94 mM NaNO₃, 0.17 mM CaCl₂ 2H₂O, 0.3 mM MgSO₄ 7H₂O, 0.43mM K₂HPO₄, 1.29 mM KH₂PO₄, and 0.43 mM NaCl. Both algae were cultured in 500 ml clear bottles with continuous aeration at 20°C. Bottles were illuminated for 12 hr light/dark cycle by artificial lights (six fluorescent tube lamps, 15 inches long and 15 W each). The stock C. reinhardtii and C. vulgaris solutions were centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 5 min and rinsed with DI water twice before inoculated in the samples. The initial algal cell density was measured around 10^5 cells mL⁻¹ by using a ZEISS LSM microscope to achieve supplemental growth during ABDON incubation. As bacterial inoculum, approximately 10% diluted MLSS were prepared, which initially obtained from the City of Moorhead WWTP (Moorhead, MN) (initial MLSS was about 2,500 mg suspended solids/L). In this study, C. reinhardtii, C. vulgaris, and bacteria were abbreviated as R, V, and B, respectively. All the glassware, including double de-ionized water (DDI) were sterilized by autoclaving at 121°C for 20 - 30 min before conducting any experiment.

4.2.3. Experimental Design

All the samples were inoculated using algae and/or bacteria and incubated for 21 days to determine DON, ABDON and BDON. The 21 days of incubation period in the experiment was

proceeded from previous studies (Pehlivanoglu and Sedlak, 2004; Urgun-Demirtas et al., 2008; Sattayatewa et al., 2010; Simsek et al., 2012) and preliminary results of this study. To determine ABDON, the samples were inoculated using algae-only (R-only or V-only), algae + algae (R + V), algae + bacteria [(R-only or V-only) + B], or algae + algae + bacteria (R + V + B) inoculum. To determine BDON, the samples were inoculated using bacteria-only (B) inoculum.

For each experiment, a 100 ml of wastewater sample was placed in a 250 ml of clear bottle and seeded with 1.5 ml pure culture algal species and 1.5 ml of bacteria based on design of the experiment. The sample volume to air volume in the bottle did not exceed to 50% ratio to ensure sufficient air contact to maintain oxygen level (Miller et al., 1978). Control samples were prepared for each bioassay by adding the algae and/or bacterial inoculum to DDI water and treating it the same way as the sample. Bacteria seeded samples were incubated in amber bottle in dark while algae seeded samples were placed in clear bottles with 12hr dark/ light cycle of artificial light illumination. All the experiments were conducted on a continuous shaker (VWR orbital standard shaker) at the rate of 100 rpm to maintain the complete mixing during the incubation. After 21 days incubation, wastewater samples were centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 5 min to separate algae and/or bacteria from the sample before measurement. After 21-day of incubation, algal growth in each algal and/or bacterial bioassays were evaluated by measuring dry cell weight (Miller et al., 1978). Based on the procedure, 50 ml samples were filtered through 0.2µm micro pore filter (Pall Life Scientific), while the retentate on the filter (algal biomass) was dried at 80 ℃ for 24 hr.

4.2.4. Determination of DON, ABDON, and BDON

There is not a method available to measure DON directly. Therefore, DON was calculated as the difference between TDN and total dissolved inorganic nitrogen (TDIN). The

details of inorganic nitrogen and TDN measurements and following DON, BDON, and ABDON determinations were explained elsewhere in detail (Simsek et al., 2012, 2013).

4.2.5. Statistical Analyses

Minitab 17 was used in this study for all the statistical analyses. Sample means and standard derivations were calculated from the duplication or triplication of each treatment. One way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed at $P \le 0.05$ to evaluate the statistical difference between BDON or ABDON under different inoculation conditions.

4.3. Result and Discussion

Animal feedlot and storage lagoon samples were analyzed before and after incubation to determine dissolved nitrite, dissolved nitrate, and dissolved ammonia, TDN, DON, ABDON, and BDON. The results were presented in the Figures 1 through 4.

4.3.1. Animal Feedlot Wastewaters

4.3.1.1. Inorganic Nitrogen and TDN

Average values of inorganic nitrogen concentrations before incubation (raw wastewater) and following 21 days of incubation results for animal feedlot samples were presented in Figure 4.1. After 21-day of incubation, about 51 and 57% of ammonia were removed in R-only or V-only seeded samples, respectively. In the R + B and V + B seeded samples, about 90 and 92% of ammonia were available to algae + bacteria inoculum, respectively. Furthermore, about 99% of ammonia was removed in bacteria-only seeded sample. These results indicated that bacteria addition to the samples increased ammonia reduction since bacteria was mainly responsible to convert ammonia in the wastewater to first nitrite and subsequently to nitrate.

Nitrate after incubation was low in algae-only seeded samples while it was quite high in bacteria and bacteria-only seeded samples. The similar results were obtained in previous studies (Urgun-Demritas et al., 2008; Simsek et al., 2013) that nitrate was high in bacteria involved samples while it was low in algae-only seeded samples.

Nitrate after incubation was low in all the samples regardless of the type of the seeds except it was high in bacteria-only seeded samples. These results indicated that algae utilize nitrate for their growth while bacteria was increasing the nitrate through nitrification process. In general, either ammonia or nitrite were quite high in all inoculum conditions after incubation for animal feedlot samples (Figure 4.1). This outcome expressed that partial nitrification was occurred in the samples during the incubation. Inadequate respiration during the incubation because of lack of DO might be reduced the nitritation efficiency in the samples as similar results were obtain in a previous study conducted for domestic wastewater (Simsek et al., 2012). To understand the effect of high nitrite accumulation in the samples, the pH values were monitored every three days during the incubation. It was recorded that pH increased to 8.13-8.30 in algaeonly seeded samples on 3rd incubation day, compare to initial (before incubation) pH values (ranged from 7.40 to 7.69). In algae + bacteria seeded samples, pH reached to the highest value (9.04 -9.47) at 11th day of incubation. However, the high pH values were not affected the life of algae and/or bacteria. Similarly, additional two sets of experiments were conducted to address oxygen depletion effect on nitritation by diluting the initial wastewater by 1:3 portions to reduce nutrient loading in the samples. TDN became about 15 mg-N/L in diluted animal feedlot and all other parameters in the samples reduced proportionally. More than 99% of ammonia (<0.5 mg-N/L left) was nitrified all the way to nitrate after 21 days of incubation in both algae + bacteria seeded samples. These results indicated that higher initial N loading needs extra oxygen to support algae and/or bacteria for their assimilation and metabolism activities.



Figure 4.1. TDN, NH₃-N, NO₂-N, and NO₃-N in animal feedlot samples for different algae and/or bacteria inoculum: Algae [*S. capricornutum* (S), *C. reinhardtii* (R), and *C. vulgaris* (V)] and/or bacteria (B).

Average initial TDN (before incubation) mostly constituted of ammonia and DON since the wastewater sample from animal feedlot was fresh (about 3 days of residence time in storage tank). Average TDN values after incubation for samples seeded with either single cultured (R, V) or mixed cultured (R + V) algae were substantially lower than TDN before incubation since algae utilized nitrogen species (mainly ammonia) for their growth. The TDN values after incubation reduced to for the samples seeded with R (46% reduction) and V (44% reduction), respectively. The reduction of TDN was observed since algae utilized nitrogen during the incubation. Adding bacteria seed into the samples seeded with R and V was not significantly reduced TDN. TDN before and after incubation in bacteria-only seeded ample was in balance and only minor TDN reduction (9%) was recorded after incubation. The similar reduction in TDN in bacteria-only seeded sample was observed in a previous study conducted by Simsek et al. (2012).

4.3.1.2. DON, BDON, and ABDON

Average DON concentration before incubation was recorded as 7.71 ± 0.18 mg-N/L, which comprised of about 18.4% of TDN before incubation (Figure 4.2a). The magnitude of DON in ANPC effluent and typical DON in domestic wastewater (raw wastewater) were quite similar. DON after incubation in algae and/or bacteria seeded samples was varied between 1.63 and 4.54 mg-N/L. These results showed that between 21.1 and 58.9% of initial DON was utilized by either algae and/or bacteria. DON after incubation (DON residue in the sample) to initial TND ratio was calculated and results showed that between 3.9 and 10.8% of DON in initial TDN were remained in this samples, which consider as refractory (unbiodegradable and unbioavailable) DON (Figure 4.2a). DON reduction was the lowest in C. reinhardtii seeded samples while it was the highest in algae + algae + bacteria seeded sample. The highest reduction in DON after incubation to initial TDN was observed in C. reinhardtii + C. vulgaris + bacteria seeded sample. DON residue in the sample to TDN after incubation in each bioassay was also calculated and found that between 6.9 and 19% of TDN after incubation in each samples were DON. This indicated that while DON was reducing in each bioassay sample, TDN was also reducing because of algal and bacterial utilization of nitrogen species.

BDON results showed that, average 3.97 mg-N/L of initial DON, which was 54.8% of initial DON was biodegradable to bacteria-only inoculum. Similar results were obtained in previous studies (43-65% of BDON removal efficiency) for domestic wastewaters (Urgun-Demirtas et al., 2008; Simsek et al., 2013).

Bioavailability of DON in both algae *C. reinhardtii* and *C. vulgaris* and their combination with bacteria was determined and presented in Figure 4.2b. DON bioavailability was significantly higher ($P \le 0.05$) in *C. reinhardtii* inoculum compare to in *C. vulgaris*

54

inoculum. As a result of symbiotic relationship between algae and bacteria, the bioavailability of DON increased in both types of algal species with bacteria addition. Dong et al. (2014) explained that urea in DON is more favorable to nitrate and nitrate-urea mixture media. Further they explained that more encoding proteins were involved in urea assimilation process rather than nitrate transport process. Hence, urea in animal wastewater could enhance the bioavailability of DON in both two algal species.

Results showed that initial DON bioavailability that obtained in this study for animal wastewater was higher than in municipal wastewater studies conducted earlier (Urgun-Demirtas et al., 2008; Simsek et al., 2013). ABDON in algae (R or V) and bacteria seeded samples were not statistically different ($P \le 0.05$). However, the presence of bacteria promoted bioavailability of initial DON in both types of algae. ABDON in mixed cultured algae and bacteria (*C. reinhardtii* + *C. vulgaris* + bacteria) seeded sample was significantly greater ($P \le 0.05$) than all other combinations since the majority of DON (81%) was bioavailable to algae and bacteria in this sample. Increased DON bioavailability to algae with the presence of bacteria was also concluded in previous studies (Urgun-Demirtas et al., 2008; Simsek et al., 2013).The mutual relationship between algae and bacteria was benefited from nutrient interactions of carbon dioxide, oxygen, vitamin B₁₂, and organic carbon source (Santos and Reis. 2014).



Figure 4.2. (a) DON and DON/TDN, (b) BDON, ABDON, and their initial DON fraction in animal feedlot samples for different algae and/or bacteria inoculum: Algae [*S. capricornutum* (S), *C. reinhardtii* (R), and *C. vulgaris* (V)] and/or bacteria (B).

The fractions of BDON/DON_i and ABDON/DON_i represent the biodegradability and bioavailability of DON in the samples, respectively. Results showed that certain portion of DON was biodegradable and/or bioavailable to bacteria, algae, and algae + bacteria in wastewaters from ANPC effluent (Figure 4.2b).

As explained earlier, two sets of samples were diluted to investigate nutrient loading and DO relationship. Therefore, BDON and ABDON was determined in 1:3 portion of diluted sample to observe oxygen deficiency effect on DON. Results showed that biodegradability and bioavailability of DON was not changed significantly (P < 0.05) between non-diluted and 1:3 diluted samples from animal feedlot, which proved that the magnitude of inorganic nitrogen (including high NO₂-N accumulation because of partial nitrification) didn't greatly affect DON utilization by algae and bacteria. The bioavailability of influent DON to *C. reinhardtii* in 1:3 diluted samples was slightly higher (about 11%) than in *C. vulgaris*. However, DON bioavailability of influent DON was increased at least 4% with the presence of bacteria.

Overall results from both types of algae and/or bacteria inoculum showed that some portions of DON was both biodegradable and bioavailable, which was overlapping, while some portions of DON was only bioavailable or only biodegradable. In other words, some portions of DON were determined as refractory to both algae and/or bacteria. The overlapping portion of DON is more critical in aquatic systems since there is a high possibility to breakdown DON by either algae or bacteria to increase nutrient availability to algal and microbial species.

4.3.2. Lagoon Wastewater

4.3.2.1. Inorganic Nitrogen and TDN

Dissolved nitrate and TDN results before and after incubation for the samples collected from the sheep feedlot lagoon are presented in Figure 4.3. Nitrate, ammonia, and nitrite before incubation were detected in very low concentrations, which were NO₃-N <0.23 mg-N/L, NH₃-N = 2.33 mg-N/L, and NO₂-N <0.30 mg-N/L. These results showed that TDIN was about 2.86 mg-N/L, which was quite lower than TDIN in animal feedlot sample. The reason for low inorganic nitrogen in the lagoon is that the residence time of the wastewater was long enough to complete nitrification and following nitrate utilization by bacteria and algae in the lagoon. After incubation, ammonia and nitrite were under detection limit as well in the samples seeded both algae and/or bacteria. However, nitrate concentration after incubation increased in each location, explained that nitrate was occurred because of bioavailable DON in the samples.

Average TDN before incubation was about 12.00 mg-N/L, which consisted of mostly DON since TDIN was very low in the samples. After incubation, ammonia and nitrite were completely removed in all the samples (Figure 4.3). However, nitrate concentration after incubation increased in each location, explained that nitrate was produced after the degradation of ABDON in the samples. These results showed that initially DON degraded to lower weight molecular compounds by bacteria and consequently utilized by algae and/or bacteria (Urgun-Demirtas et al., 2008; Simsek et al., 2013). Overall, the TDN trends observed in lagoon samples were similar with samples from animal feedlot. The average TDN concentrations before and after incubation in bacteria seeded samples were similar. About 13% of TDN reduction was observed during the incubation in bacteria-only seeded sample. TDN in bacteria-only seeded sample was very high compare to algae-only inoculated samples explained that bacteria did not utilize TDN as much as algae did. Bacteria was mainly responsible for nitrification in these samples.



Figure 4.3. TDN, NH₃-N, NO₂-N, and NO₃-N in storage lagoon samples for different algae and/or bacteria inoculum: Algae [*S. capricornutum* (S), *C. reinhardtii* (R), and *C. vulgaris* (V)] and/or bacteria (B).

4.3.2.2. DON, BDON, and ABDON

DON was an important component of the sheep feedlot lagoon samples, which was measured as 8.50 mg-N/L and comprised of 70.8% of TDN. Previous studies showed that DON in lagoon samples can be derived from N enriched underground water, agricultural ground water, and sediment-water column fluxes across a nutrient gradient (Anderson et al. 2003; Tyler et al. 2001). Additionally, a small portion of DON can be released from soil during runoff. DON release rate in lagoon were influenced by biological processes, hydrometeorlogical factors, rainfall, and surface discharge (Scully et al., 2007). Similar to animal feedlot sample, the minimum DON value after incubation was recorded as average 1.06 mg-N/L, which was a recalcitrant DON in R + V + B seeded sample (Figure 4.4a).

TDN reduction rates during the incubation in lagoon samples were closely related to the bioavailability of DON. Results showed that more DON reduction was appeared in the samples inoculated with algae + bacteria. *C. reinhardtii* + bacteria demonstrated higher DON removal

compare to *C. reinhadtii* + bacteria samples. DON to TDN ratios after incubation ranged from 13.2% to 41.2%, which were quiet low compare to the same ratio before incubation (initial sample). The ratios in algae-only seeded samples were higher than algae + bacteria seeded samples indicated that the symbiotic association between algae and bacteria increased DON utilization.

ABDON, BDON, and their ration to initial DON data are presented in Figure 4.4b. Even though the residence time of the lagoon was very high compare to animal feedlot fresh samples, ABDON values in the lagoon samples and in animal feedlot samples were very close each other in all the inoculum conditions. This outcome indicated that, suitable environmental conditions were not occurred in the lagoon to increase biodegradability and bioavailability of DON. However, during the 21 days of incubation, the presence of bacteria enhanced the bioavailability of DON to both *C. reinhardtii* and *C. vulgaris*. The difference of ABDON between sample inoculated with *C. reinhardtii* only and *C. vulgaris* only was not significant (P<0.05). The samples inoculated with *C. reinhardtii* + bacteria showed slightly more bioavailability of DON than in the case of *C. vulgaris* + bacteria ($P \le 0.05$). Similarly, the samples seeded with algae + algae + bacteria demonstrated that approximately 81% of DON to initial DON ration showed similar trend with ABDON data in all the inoculum condition.



Figure 4.4. (a) DON and DON/TDN, (b) BDON, ABDON, and their initial DON fraction in storage lagoon samples for different algae and/or bacteria inoculum: Algae [*S. capricornutum* (S), *C. reinhardtii* (R), and *C. vulgaris* (V)] and/or bacteria (B).
BDON incubation results showed that average 3.78 mg-N/L of DON was degraded by bacteria in the lagoon sample. Algae and algae + bacteria data showed that some portion of this BDON was utilized by algae. Furthermore, the BDON to initial DON ratio proved that about 48.6% of DON was biodegraded to lower molecular weight compounds by bacteria. Even though some portions of DON was biodegraded by bacteria, some portions of it remained as recalcitrant, which was non-biodegradable in the sample.

4.3.3. Dry Cell Weight in ANPC and Lagoon Samples

Measuring and quantifying dry cell weight of algal and bacterial biomasses in the samples is critically important to monitor algae-nutrient relationship and furthermore to evaluate ABDON and BDON potential in the samples. Dry cell weight in both type of animal wastewater was measured after 21 days of incubation period to examine how the presence of bacteria and N concentration affected the growth of *C. reinhardtii* and *C. vulgaris* species. Results showed that *C. reinhardtii* + bacteria inoculum demonstrated the highest biomass productivity in wastewater from animal feedlot (Table 4.1). With the presence of bacteria + algae, more biomass was produced than either inoculated algae-only or bacteria-only samples, indicating that bacteria involvement promoted algal growth in both wastewater samples collected from animal feedlot and lagoon. ABDON and BDON incubation experiments in this study supported this outcome since algae + bacteria samples always reduced DON concentration in the samples. The biomass production inoculated with bacteria was only slightly increased in animal feedlot wastewater contained higher TDN than wastewater from lagoon, while it was significantly increased inoculated with algae or algae + bacteria.

ANPC samples	
Type of inoculum	Biomass Density, g/L
R	0.48 ± 0.04
V	0.37 ± 0.05
R+B	0.77 ± 0.08
V+B	0.62 ± 0.02
В	0.12 ± 0.02
Lagoon samples	
Type of inoculum	Biomass Density, g/L
R	0.15 ± 0.02
V	0.12 ± 0.01
R+B	0.30 ± 0.03
V+B	0.25 ± 0.02
В	0.09 ± 0.02

Table 4.1. Biomass density in animal feedlot and lagoon samples inoculated using different combination of algal and/or bacterial inoculum.

4.4. Summary

The vast majority of the available information in animal wastewater studies are not explain biodegradability and bioavailability of DON and its impact on natural environment. DON, BDON, and ABDON data were collected from two different animal wastewaters sources, which were animal feedlot and sheep lagoon. Samples were inoculated using *C. reinhardtii* and *C. vulgaris* and bacteria (MLSS). The results showed that from 3.21 to 5.87 mg-N/L of DON (comprised about 51.3% to 78.9% of initial DON) from ANPC effluent and from 3.44 to 7.54 mg-N/L of DON (comprised about 40.5% to 80.9% of initial DON) from lagoon samples were bioavailable to any combination of algae and bacteria. ABDON and BDON trends in both types of wastewater sources were similar. *C. reinhardtii* + *C. vulgaris*+ bacteria seeded samples utilized initial DON more than other combination of algae and/or bacteria. In both sample sources, at least 20% of initial DON was recorded as recalcitrant DON. This portion of DON could be degraded in longer incubation conditions, which could be in receiving water.

CHAPTER 5. CONCLUSIONS

5.1. Conclusions

This research was conducted under batch conditions with controlled temperature, aeration, and illumination to investigate bioavailability and biodegradability of DON. The study reveals important findings and provides information to increase the quality of receiving waters. In municipal wastewater, ABDON efficiencies for all three algae were not significantly different, which indicated that *C. reinhardtii* and *C. vulgaris* can be used as a test species for nitrogen determination similar to *S. capricornutum*. Short incubation period (14-day) was adequate to complete ABDON exertion for algae + bacteria inoculum. However, DON was still available for algae after 14 days (until 21 days) which can imply that effluent DON in aquatic system have more profound environmental impacts over the time scale.

BDON and ABDON in two different animal wastewater sources were thoroughly investigated in this study. Along with the algae, bacteria addition into the samples produced high ABDON value indicated that there was a symbiotic relationship between bacteria and all three types of algae. In an animal operation center and animal waste lagoon, DON comprised about 18.4 and 70.8% of TDN, respectively. High ABDON level (40 to 81%) in animal wastewater indicated the potential need to remove animal DON before discharge. Overall, results from this study showed that DON from anthropogenic sources is highly bioavailable to algae and bacteria. Future works are required to analyze the characterization of DON.

5.2. Recommendations

To have a comprehensive understanding on the research, there are topics that can be further addressed:

- It is necessary to investigate different operational conditions, such as in continuous stirred tank reactors or pilot scale reactors, to promote DON degradation rate and enhance ABDON removal in a shorter incubation period.
- A proteomic analysis of protein profiles can be conducted before and after bioassay tests to provide more information on molecular weight and properties of bioavailable, recalcitrant, and newly generated DON (if any).
- Detecting extracellular and intracellular enzyme activity of algae and bacteria are recommended to understand the mechanism of the symbolic relationship of algae and bacteria to remove DON.
- Levels of different forms of DON, such as urea and amino acids, in municipal wastewater and animal wastewater can be determined via chemical analysis before and after incubation to understand the bioavailability and biodegradability of specific nitrogen forms.
- Further experiments can be conducted by incubating river water and animal wastewater samples to monitor the effects of ABDON in receiving waters.

REFERENCES

- Abeliovich, A., Azov, Y., 1976. Toxicity of ammonia to algae in sewage oxidation ponds. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 31(6), 801–806.
- Abou-Shanab, R.A., Ji, M.K., Kim, H.C., Paeng, K.J., Jeon, B.H., 2013. Microalgal species growing on piggery wastewater as a valuable candidate for nutrient removal and biodiesel production. Journal of environmental management 115, 257–264
- Aluwihare, L.I., Repeta, D.J., Pantoja, S., Johnson, C.G., 2005. Two chemically distinct pools of organic nitrogen accumulate in the ocean. Science 308(5724), 1007–1010.
- An, J.Y., Sim, S.J., Lee, J.S., Kim, B.W., 2003. Hydrocarbon production from secondarily treated piggery wastewater by the green alga Botryococcus braunii. Journal of Applied Phycology 15(2–3), 185–191.
- Anderson, I.C., McGlathery, K.J., Tyler, A.C., 2003. Microbial mediation of reactive nitrogen transformations in a temperate lagoon. Marine Ecology Progress Series 246, 73–84.
- APHA., 2005. Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater, twenty-first ed. American Public Health Association, Washington, DC.
- Aslan, S., Kapdan, I.K., 2006. Batch kinetics of nitrogen and phosphorus removal from synthetic wastewater by algae. Ecological Engineering 28(1), 64–70.
- Badr, E.-S.A., Tappin, A.D., Achterberg, E.P., 2008. Distributions and seasonal variability of dissolved organic nitrogen in two estuaries in SW England. Marine Chemistry 110(3–4), 153–164.
- Berg, G.M., Repeta, D.J., Laroche, J., 2002. Dissolved organic nitrogen hydrolysis rates in axenic cultures of Aureococcus anophagefferens (Pelagophyceae): Comparison with heterotrophic bacteria. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 68(1), 401–404.
- Berman, T., Chava, S., 1999. Algal growth on organic compounds as nitrogen sources. Journal of Plankton Research 21(8), 1423–1437.
- Berman, T., Bronk, D.A., 2003. Dissolved organic nitrogen: a dynamic participant in aquatic ecosystems. Aquatic Microbial Ecology 31(3), 270–305.
- Bernet, N., Delgenes, N., Moletta, R., 1996. Denitrification by anaerobic sludge in piggery wastewater. Environmental Technology 17, 293–300.
- Boyer, E.W., Howarth, R.W., Galloway, J.N., Dentener, F.J., Green, P.A., Vorosmarty, C.J., 2006. Riverine nitrogen export from the continents to the coasts. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 20(1).

- Bronk, D.A., Glibert, P.M., 1993. Application of a n-15 tracer method to the study of dissolved organic nitrogen uptake during spring and summer in chesapeake bay. Marine Biology 115(3), 501–508.
- Bronk, D.A., Glibert, P.M., Ward, B.B., 1994. Nitrogen uptake, dissolved organic nitrogen release, and new production. Science 265(5180), 1843–1846.
- Bronk, D.A., See, J.H., Bradley, P., Killberg, L., 2007. DON as a source of bioavailable nitrogen for phytoplankton. Biogeosciences 4(3), 283–296.
- Bronk, D.A., Roberts, Q.N., Sanderson, M.P., Canuel, E.A., Hatcher, P.G., Mesfioui, R.,
 Filippino, K.C., Mulholland, M.R., Love, N.G., 2010. Effluent Organic Nitrogen (EON):
 Bioavailability and Photochemical and Salinity-Mediated Release. Environmental
 Science & Technology 44(15), 5830–5835.
- Budiyono, W., Johari, I.N., Sunarso, S., 2010. The Influence of total solid contents on biogas yield from cattle manure using rumen fluid inoculum. Energy Research Journal 1, 6–11.
- Bushaw, K.L., Zepp, R.G., Tarr, M.A., SchulzJander, D., Bourbonniere, R.A., Hodson, R.E., Miller, W.L., Bronk, D.A., Moran, M.A., 1996. Photochemical release of biologically available nitrogen from aquatic dissolved organic matter. Nature 381(6581), 404–407.
- Bushaw-Newton, K.L., Moran, M.A., 1999. Photochemical formation of biologically available nitrogen from dissolved humic substances in coastal marine systems. Aquatic Microbial Ecology 18(3), 285–292.
- Cai, T., Park, S.Y., Li, Y.B., 2013. Nutrient recovery from wastewater streams by microalgae: Status and prospects. Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews 19, 360–369.
- Cape, J.N., Cornell, S.E., Jickells, T.D., Nemitz, E., 2011. Organic nitrogen in the atmosphere -Where does it come from? A review of sources and methods. Atmospheric Research 102(1-2), 30–48.
- Chadwick, D.R., Fish, R.D., Oliver, D.M., Heathwaite, A.L., Hodgson, C.J., Winter, M., 2008. Management of livestock and their manure to reduce the risk of microbial transfers to water – the case for an interdisciplinary approach. Trends in Food Science and Technology 19, 240–247.
- Chen, B., Kim, Y., Westerhoff, P., 2011. Occurrence and treatment of wastewater-derived organic nitrogen. Water Research 45(15), 4641–4650.
- Cornell, S.E., Jickells, T.D., Cape, J.N., Rowland, A.P., Duce, R.A., 2003. Organic nitrogen deposition on land and coastal environments: a review of methods and data. Atmospheric Environment 37(16), 2173–2191.

- Cronk, J.K., 1996. Constructed wetlands to treat wastewater from dairy and swine operations: A review. Agriculture Ecosystems & Environment 58(2-3), 97–114.
- Crumpton, W.G., Isenhart, T.M., Mitchell, P.D., 1992. Nitrate and organic n analyses with 2ndderivative spectroscopy. Limnology and Oceanography 37(4), 907–913.
- Czerwionka, K., Makinia, J., Pagilla, K.R., Stensel, H.D., 2012. Characteristics and fate of organic nitrogen in municipal biological nutrient removal wastewater treatment plants. Water Research 46(7), 2057–2066.
- Delia, C.F., Steudler, P.A., Corwin, N., 1977. Determination of total nitrogen in aqueous samples using persulfate digestion. Limnology and Oceanography 22(4), 760–764.
- Eckford, R.E., Fedorak, P.M., 2002. Second derivative UV absorbance analysis to monitor nitrate-reduction by bacteria in most probable number determinations. Journal of Microbiological Methods 50(2), 141–153.
- Gilley, J. E., J. R. Vogel, R. A. Eigenberg, D. B. Marx, and B. L. Woodbury., 2010. Nutrient transport in runoff from feedlots as affected by wet distillers grain diet. Transition of ASABE 53(2), 545–552.
- Glibert, P.M., Wazniak, C.E., Hall, M.R., Sturgis, B., 2007. Seasonal and interannual trends in nitrogen and brown tide in Maryland's coastal bays. Ecological Applications 17(5), S79– S87.
- Gobler, C.J., Renaghan, M.J., Buck, N.J., 2002. Impacts of nutrients and grazing mortality on the abundance of Aureococcus anophagefferens during a New York brown tide bloom. Limnology and Oceanography 47(1), 129–141.
- Gobler, C.J., Lonsdale, D.J., Boyer, G.L., 2005. A review of the causes, effects, and potential management of harmful brown tide blooms caused by Aureococcus anophagefferens (Hargraves et Sieburth). Estuaries 28(5), 726–749.
- Gonzalez C., Marciniak J., Villaverde S., Garc á-Encina P.A., Mu ñoz R., 2008. Microalgaebased processes for the biodegradation of pretreated piggery wastewaters. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 80(5), 891–898
- Guo, L.D., Lehner, J.K., White, D.M., Garland, D.S., 2003. Heterogeneity of natural organic matter from the Chena River, Alaska. Water Research 37(5), 1015–1022.
- Happe, T. and Naber, J.D., 1993. Isolation, characterization and n-terminal amino-acid-sequence of hydrogenase from the green-alga chlamydomonas-reinhardtii. European Journal of Biochemistry 214(2), 475-481.
- Hodson, R.C. and Thompson, J.F., 1969. Metabolism of urea by chlorella vulgaris. Plant Physiology 44(5), 691-697.

- Hopkinson, C.S., Buffam, I., Hobbie, J., Vallino, J., Perdue, M., Eversmeyer, B., Prahl, F., Covert, J., Hodson, R., Moran, M.A., Smith, E., Baross, J., Crump, B., Findlay, S., Foreman, K., 1998. Terrestrial inputs of organic matter to coastal ecosystems: An intercomparison of chemical characteristics and bioavailability. Biogeochemistry 43(3), 211–234.
- Hunt, P.G., Poach, M.E., 2001. State of the art for animal wastewater treatment in constructed wetlands. Water Science and Technology 44, 19–25.
- Huo, S., Xi, B., Yu, H., Qin, Y., Zan, F., Zhang, J., 2013. Characteristics and transformations of dissolved organic nitrogen in municipal biological nitrogen removal wastewater treatment plants. Environmental Research Letters 8(4), 1–8.
- Jackson, G.A., Williams, P.M., 1985. Importance of dissolved organic nitrogen and phosphorus to biological nutrient cycling. Deep-Sea Research Part a-Oceanographic Research Papers 32(2), 223–235.
- Kadlec, R.H., Knight, R.L., 1996. Treatment Wetlands. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, FL, 893.
- Kahru, A., Dubourguier, H.-C., Blinova, I., Ivask, A., Kasemets, K., 2008. Biotests and biosensors for ecotoxicology of metal oxide nanoparticles: A minireview. Sensors 8(8), 5153–5170.
- Khan, S.J., Roser D.J., Davies C.M., Peters G.M., Stuetz R.M., Tucker R., Ashbolt N.J., 2008, Chemical contaminants in feedlot wastes: concentrations, effects and attenuation. Environment International 34(6), 839–859.
- Khan, M., Yoshida, N., 2008. Effect of L-glutamic acid on the growth and ammonium removal from ammonium solution and natural wastewater by Chlorella vulgaris NTM06. Bioresource Technology 99(3), 575–582.
- Khan, E., Awobamise, M., Jones, K., Murthy, S., 2009. Method development for measuring biodegradable dissolved organic nitrogen in treated wastewater. Water Environmental Research, 81(8), 779–787.
- Kim, J., Liu, Z.Y., Lee, J.Y., Lu, T., 2013. Removal of nitrogen and phosphorus from municipal wastewater effluent using Chlorella vulgaris and its growth kinetics. Desalination and Water Treatment 51(40–42), 7800–7806.
- Knight, R.L., Payne, V.W.E., Borer, R.E., Clarke, R.A., Pries, J.H., 2000. Constructed wetlands for livestock wastewater management. Ecological Engineering 15, 41–55.
- Kong, Q.X., Li, L., Martinez, B., Chen, P., Ruan, R., 2010. Culture of Microalgae Chlamydomonas reinhardtii in Wastewater for Biomass Feedstock Production. Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology 160(1), 9–18.

- Koopmans, D.J., Bronk, D.A., 2002. Photochemical production of dissolved inorganic nitrogen and primary amines from dissolved organic nitrogen in waters of two estuaries and adjacent surficial groundwaters. Aquatic Microbial Ecology 26(3), 295–304.
- Langheinrich, U., 1995. Plasma membrane-associated aminopeptidase activities in chlamydomonas-reinhartti and their biochemical-characterization. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta-Protein Structure and Molecular Enzymology 1249(1), 45–57.
- Lapworth, D.J., Shand, P., Abesser, C., Darling, W.G., Haria, A.H., Evans, C.D., Reynolds, B., 2008. Groundwater nitrogen composition and transformation within a moorland catchment, mid-Wales. Science of the Total Environment 390(1), 241–254.
- Laroche, J., Nuzzi, R., Waters, R., Wyman, K., Falkowski, P.G., Wallace, D.W.R., 1997. Brown Tide blooms in Long Island's coastal waters linked to interannual variability in groundwater flow. Global Change Biology 3(5), 397–410.
- Lee, W., Westerhoff, P., Esparza-Soto, M., 2006. Occurrence and removal of dissolved organic nitrogen in US water treatment plants. Journal American Water Works Association 98(10), 102–110.
- Lee, Y.H., Chung, Y.C., Jung, J.Y., 2008. Effects of chemical and enzymatic treatments on the hydrolysis of swine wastewater. Water Science and Technology 58(7), 1529–1534.
- Lewis, P.A., Klemm, D.J., Morrison, G.E., Lazorchark, J.M., Norberg-King, T.J., Peltier, W.H., Heber, M.A., 1994. Short-Term Methods for Estimating the Chronic Toxicity of Effluents and Receiving Waters to Freshwater Organisms. 3rd ed., Publication EPA/600/4–91/002. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Cincinnati, OH.
- Liu, H.Z., Jeong, J., Gray, H., Smith, S., Sedlak, D.L., 2012. Algal Uptake of Hydrophobic and Hydrophilic Dissolved Organic Nitrogen in Effluent from Biological Nutrient Removal Municipal Wastewater Treatment Systems. Environmental Science & Technology 46(2), 713–721.
- MacIntyre, H.L., Lomas, M.W., Cornwell, J., Suggett, D.J., Gobler, C.J., Koch, E.W., Kana, T.M., 2004. Mediation of benthic-pelagic coupling by microphytobenthos: an energyand material-based model for initiation of blooms of Aureococcus anophagefferens. Harmful Algae 3(4), 403–437.
- McCarthy, M., Pratum, T., Hedges, J., Benner, R., 1997. Chemical composition of dissolved organic nitrogen in the ocean. Nature 390(6656), 150–154.
- Mesfioui, R., Love, N.G., Bronk, D.A., Mulholland, M.R., Hatcher, P.G., 2012. Reactivity and chemical characterization of effluent organic nitrogen from wastewater treatment plants determined by Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance mass spectrometry. Water Research 46(3), 622–634.

- Michel, K., Matzner, E., 1999. Release of dissolved organic carbon and nitrogen from forest floors in relation to solid phase properties, respiration and N-mineralization. Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science-Zeitschrift Fur Pflanzenernahrung Und Bodenkunde 162(6), 645–652.
- Miller, W. E., Greene, J. C., Shiroyama, T., 1978. The Selenastrum capricornutum Printz Algal Assay Bottle Test, PublicationEPA-600/9-78-018. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Corvallis, Oregon.
- Mulholland, M.R., Boneillo, G., Minor, E.C., 2004. A comparison of N and C uptake during brown tide (Aureococcus anophagefferens) blooms from two coastal bays on the east coast of the USA. Harmful Algae 3(4), 361–376.
- Munoz-blanco, J., Hidalgomartinez, J., Cardenas, J., 1990. Extracellular deamination of l-aminoacids by *Chlamydomonas-reinhardtii* cells. Planta 182(2), 194–198.
- Nuzzi, R., Waters, R.A., 2004. Long-term perspective on the dynamics of brown tide blooms in Long Island coastal bays. Harmful Algae 3(4), 279–293.
- Obaja, D., Mace, S., Costa, J., Sans, C., Mata-Alvarez., J., 2003. Nitrification, denitrification and biological phosphorus removal in a sequencing batch reactor treating piggery wastewater. Bioresource Technology 98(1), 103–111.
- Paerl, H.W., 1997. Coastal eutrophication and harmful algal blooms: Importance of atmospheric deposition and groundwater as "new" nitrogen and other nutrient sources. Limnology and Oceanography 42(5), 1154–1165.
- Parkin, G.F., McCarty, P.L., 1981. Production of soluble organic nitrogen during activated sludge treatment. Journal Water Pollution Control Federation 53(1), 99–112.
- Pehlivanoglu, E., Sedlak, D.L., 2004. Bioavailability of wastewater-derived organic nitrogen to the alga Selenastrum Capricornutum. Water Research 38(14-15), 3189–3196.
- Pehlivanoglu-Mantas, E., Sedlak, D.L., 2006. Wastewater-derived dissolved organic nitrogen: Analytical methods, characterization, and effects - A review. Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology 36(3), 261–285.
- Pehlivanoglu-Mantas, E., Sedlak, D.L., 2008. Measurement of dissolved organic nitrogen forms in wastewater effluents: Concentrations, size distribution and NDMA formation potential. Water Research 42(14), 3890–3898.
- Perakis, S.S., Hedin, L.O., 2002. Nitrogen loss from unpolluted South American forests mainly via dissolved organic compounds. Nature 415(6170), 416–419.

- Prajapati, S.K., Choudhary, P., Malik, A. and Vijay, V.K., 2014. Algae mediated treatment and bioenergy generation process for handling liquid and solid waste from dairy cattle farm. Bioresource Technology 167, 260–268.
- Purdom C.E., Hardiman P.A., Bye V.J., Eno N.C., Tyler C.R., Sumpter J.P., 1994. Estrogenic effects of effluents from sewage treatment works. Chemical Ecology 8, 275–85.
- Qin, C., Liu, H., Liu, L., Smith, S., Sedlak, D.L., Gu, A.Z., 2015. Bioavailability and characterization of dissolved organic nitrogen and dissolved organic phosphorus in wastewater effluents. Science of the Total Environment 511, 47–53.
- Repeta, D.J., Quan, T.M., Aluwihare, L.I., Accardi, A.M., 2002. Chemical characterization of high molecular weight dissolved organic matter in fresh and marine waters. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 66 (6), 955–962.
- Ruiz-Marin, A., Mendoza-Espinosa, L. G., and Stephenson, T., 2010. "Growth and nutrient removal in free and immobilized green algae in batch and semi-continuous cultures treating real wastewater." Bioresource Technology 101 (1), 58–64.
- Santos, C.A., Reis, A., 2014. Microalgal symbiosis in biotechnology. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 98(13), 5839–5846.
- Sattayatewa, C., Pagilla, K., Pitt, P., Selock, K., Bruton, T., 2009. Organic nitrogen transformations in a 4-stage Bardenpho nitrogen removal plant and bioavailability/biodegradability of effluent DON. Water Research 43(18), 4507–4516.
- Sattayatewa, C., Pagilla, K., Sharp, R., Pitt, P., 2010. Fate of Organic Nitrogen in Four Biological Nutrient Removal Wastewater Treatment Plants. Water Environment Research 82(12), 2306–2315.
- Sattayatewa, C., Arnaldos, M., Pagilla, K., 2011. Measurement of Organic Nitrogen and Phosphorus Fractions at Very Low Concentrations in Wastewater Effluents. Water Environment Research 83(8), 675–683.
- Scully, N.M., Tranvik, L.J., Cooper, W.J., 2003. Photochemical effects on the interaction of enzymes and dissolved organic matter in natural waters. Limnology and Oceanography 48(5), 1818–1824.
- Seitzinger, S. P. Sanders, R. W., 1997. Contribution of dissolved organic nitrogen from rivers to estuarine eutrophication. Marine Ecology Progress Series 159, 1–12.
- Seitzinger, S.P., Sanders, R.W., 1999. Atmospheric inputs of dissolved organic nitrogen stimulate estuarine bacteria and phytoplankton. Limnology and Oceanography 44(3), 721–730.

- Seitzinger, S.P., Sanders, R.W., Styles, R., 2002. Bioavailability of DON from natural and anthropogenic sources to estuarine plankton. Limnology and Oceanography 47(2), 353–366.
- Shon, H.K., Vigneswaran, S., Snyder, S.A., 2006. Effluent organic matter (EfOM) in wastewater: Constituents, effects, and treatment. Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology 36(4), 327–374.
- Simsek, H., Kasi, M., Wadhawan, T., Bye, C., Blonigen, M., Khan, E., 2012. Fate of dissolved organic nitrogen in two stage trickling filter process. Water Research 46(16), 5115–5126.
- Simsek, H., Kasi, M., Ohm, J.B., Blonigen, M., Khan, E., 2013. Bioavailable and biodegradable dissolved organic nitrogen in activated sludge and trickling filter wastewater treatment plants. Water Research 47(9), 3201–3210.
- Staples, C.A., Davis, J.W., 2002. An examination of the physical properties, fate, ecotoxicity and potential environmental risks for a series of propylene glycol ethers. Chemosphere 49(1), 61–73.
- Trice, T.M., Glibert, P.M., Lea, C., Van Heukelem, L., 2004. HPLC pigment records provide evidence of past blooms of Aureococcus anophagefferens in the Coastal Bays of Maryland and Virginia, USA. Harmful Algae 3(4), 295–304.
- Tyler, A.C., McGlathery, K.J., Anderson, I.C., 2001. Macroalgae mediation of dissolved organic nitrogen fluxes in a temperate coastal lagoon. Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science 53(2), 155–168.
- Urgun-Demirtas, M., Sattayatewa, C., Pagilla, K.R., 2008. Bioavailability of dissolved organic nitrogen in treated effluents. Water Environment Research 80(5), 397–406.
- V äh ätalo, A. V., Zepp, R. G., 2005. Photochemical mineralization of dissolved organic nitrogen to ammonium in the Baltic Sea. Environmental Science & Technology 39, 6985–6992.
- V äh ätalo A V, J ärvinen M., 2007. Photochemically produced bioavailable nitrogen from biologically recalcitrant dissolved organic matter stimulates production of a nitrogen limited microbial food web in the Baltic Sea. Limnology and oceanography 52(1), 132– 143.
- van der Heever, J.A., Grobbelaar, J.U., 1998. In vivo chlorophyll A fluorescence of Selenastrum capricornutum as a screening bioassay in toxicity studies. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 35(2), 281–286.
- Vandenbruwane, J., De Neve, S., Qualls, R.G., Salomez, J. and Hofman, G., 2007. Optimization of dissolved organic nitrogen (DON) measurements in aqueous samples with high inorganic nitrogen concentrations. Science of the Total Environment 386(1-3), 103–113.

- Wei, R., Ge, F., Huang, S., Chen, M., Wang, R, 2011. Occurrence of veterinary antibiotics in animal wastewater and surface water around farms in Jiangsu Province, China. Chemosphere 82, 1408–1414.
- Wiegner, T.N., Seitzinger, S.P., 2001. Photochemical and microbial degradation of external dissolved organic matter inputs to rivers. Aquatic Microbial Ecology 24(1), 27–40.
- Wiegner, T.N., Seitzinger, S.P., Glibert, P.M., Bronk, D.A., 2006. Bioavailability of dissolved organic nitrogen and carbon from nine rivers in the eastern United States. Aquatic Microbial Ecology 43 (3), 277–287.
- Westgate, P.J., Park, C., 2010. Evaluation of Proteins and Organic Nitrogen in Wastewater Treatment Effluents. Environmental Science & Technology 44(14), 5352–5357.
- Xu, B., Li, D.-P., Li, W., Xia, S.-J., Lin, Y.-L., Hu, C.-Y., Zhang, C.-J., Gao, N.-Y., 2010. Measurements of dissolved organic nitrogen (DON) in water samples with nanofiltration pretreatment. Water Research 44(18), 5376–5384.
- Zhang, Y., Song, L., Liu, X.J., Li, W.Q., Lu, S.H., Zheng, L.X., Bai, Z.C., Cai, G.Y., Zhang, F.S., 2012. Atmospheric organic nitrogen deposition in China. Atmospheric Environment 46, 195–204.